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2016 was that kind of year for our province, our region 
and our airport. Alberta’s economy hit some turbulence 
and it was a rough ride for many sectors. EIA was not 
immune from the impact of the economic downturn.

But if there’s one thing we know about the people of 
our province, region and EIA is that we’re resilient. 
When we are faced with adversity is when we shine 
the brightest. It’s when we reach out to our neighbours 
to build more bridges and fewer fences. It’s when, 
together, we rise above.

Turbulence. At 35,000 ft.,  
it can be unnerving, even 
scary at times. But everyone 
knows it’s a normal part of 
flying, and getting from A to B 
isn’t always smooth sailing.
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Although the provincial economy has seen peaks and 
valleys over the last generation, the economic downturn 
that began in 2015 and worsened in 2016 has been 
unprecedented. It has had a profound effect on the 
resource and energy sectors and a similarly profound 
effect on the regional economy.

EIA certainly felt the effects of these challenging 
economic conditions. Our Board of Directors, in 
collaboration with the management team, was determined 
to face the challenges head on. Maintaining EIA’s 
position of economic strength required pragmatism and 
quick, ongoing action. That action resulted in, among 
other	things,	increased	demonstrations	of	confidence	
from private investment, which increased again in 
2016. Construction began, for example, on a new 
25,000-squarefoot freight forwarder mixed-use cargo 
building for Runway Developments and Aeroterm’s 
50,000-squarefoot multi-use airport facility. Aurora 
Cannabis, which will be the world’s largest and most 
advanced medical cannabis production facility, also began 
construction of an 800,000-square-foot facility at EIA.

Other significant partnership projects continued 
toward completion, including Rosenau Transport 
Ltd.’s 211,000-square-foot warehouse and shipping 
facility and the much anticipated 585,000-square-foot 
Premium Outlet Collection-EIA. 

EIA’s cargo service also experienced its seventh 
consecutive year of volume growth — just another 
example	of	continued	confidence	in	both	the	airport	
and the region as an economic and transport hub. 

Of course, increased growth in both cargo volume and 
commercial development at the airport translates into 
jobs and economic impact for the region. In 2016, EIA 
continued to be a robust economic engine, staying in 
line with the results of our most recent economic impact 
study: supporting 12,600 direct and indirect jobs each 

year and generating nearly $1.2 billion in Gross Domestic 
Product (GDP). Our total economic output remains 
more	than	$2.2	billion.	Continued	diversification	of	our	
business offerings will remain essential in our ongoing 
support to and for the region. I am so appreciative for 
the vision and business savvy my colleagues on the 
Board of Directors have shown during this past year 
as we’ve worked to keep EIA and the region moving 
forward through these challenging times. 

Specifically,	I	want	to	thank	Leonard	Blumenthal	(Leduc	
County) and Mary Cameron (Government of Canada) 
whose terms ended in December 2016. They contributed 
greatly to our Board and we valued their perspectives 
and acumen. 

My Board colleagues Dale Klein (Sturgeon County) 
and Naseem Bashir (City of Edmonton) both enter 
their second four-year terms in January 2017. We will 
continue	to	benefit	from	their	invaluable	contributions.	

We welcome to the Board Tim Hofstra, who began 
his	first	 four-year	appointment,	 representing	Leduc	
County, in 2017. 

The Government of Canada’s position on the Board 
remains vacant while the federal government moves 
forward with its appointment process. 

Our role as a Board is not just to ensure EIA rises 
above the challenges it faces. Our role is also to ensure 
that, as EIA rises above its challenges and beyond its 
expectations, our community rises alongside us. It is 
our mandate, our core belief and our reason for doing 
what we do – endlessly striving towards greatness for 
ourselves and our community. 

Maureen McCaw
Board Chair

An airport is a mirror of its community. An airport reflects its region’s personality 
and helps drive its economy and forward its goals. Arguably, an airport’s biggest 
job is to maintain a position of economic strength and confidence, regardless of — 
in spite of — external conditions. This was Edmonton Airports’ challenge this year.

BOARD 
CHAIR’S
MESSAGE
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As our Board Chair outlined in her message, so much 
of EIA’s success in navigating the external economic 
challenges of 2016 was thanks to the Board’s practical 
view, the company’s nimbleness and our employees’ 
commitment and spirit of collaboration. Without these 
three	factors,	getting	through	difficult	times	would	be	
impossible. 

Although 2016 was a challenging year, we saw an uptake 
in	air	traffic	the	second	half	of	the	year,	giving	us	a	net	
result of an overall decline of just over three percent 
in	passenger	terminal	traffic	for	the	year.	Overall,	our	
general	and	business	aviation	passenger	traffic	was	down	
by 29 per cent. This decline was the result of the one/
two punch of a low Canadian dollar and reduced travel 
to and from energy-based worksites. The low Canadian 
dollar	also	affected	US-destined	travel	specifically,	as	
travellers made different choices for holiday and business. 
International travel was also down, largely because of 
decreased demand for sun destination service. 

What was encouraging, however, was the introduction of 
transatlantic services to Reykjavik on Icelandair, Amsterdam 
on KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, and London–Gatwick on 
WestJet’s new seasonal service. The success of these 
transatlantic services is good news for the region, as the 
flights	bring	tourists	from	those	destinations	who	spend	
time and money in the region and then use Edmonton 
as a gateway to the Rockies, the Canadian North and 
other destinations. 

We also recorded incredible cargo growth for the 
seventh year in a row. International air cargo is a powerful 
economic driver for the region, and growing that part 
of our business remains a key corporate goal. 

Anyone	driving	by	or	around	the	airport	will	see	a	flurry	
of construction activity as we move ahead on a number 
of commercial and cargo development projects. We 
continue	to	find	new,	innovative	ways	to	develop	our	
aerotropolis, partnering with organizations that will spur 
economic growth for the region and create a tourism 
destination at EIA.

Horseracing Alberta, for example, announced that 
Century Casinos, Inc. has been chosen to develop a new 
mile-long racetrack in EIA’s aerotropolis development. 
Scheduled to open in 2018, the facility will include 
food and entertainment facilities with slot machines. 
Commercial development such as this generates revenue 
that EIA is able to re-invest into improving air service 
for the region.

Villeneuve Airport continued to be a vital part of our 
business in 2016. Our region’s primary general aviation 
airport logged close to 55,000 successful landing and 
takeoffs for the year. As well, many new expansion plans 
continued	in	Villeneuve	including	our	second	fixed-base	
operator Polaris Air who broke ground for a new 25,000 
square-foot facility. Due to the success of the 2016 
Edmonton Airshow you won’t want to miss the 2017 
show with a special tribute to Canada’s 150th birthday 
and an appearance of the famous Royal Canadian Air 
Force Snowbirds performing in the skies above. I look 
forward to seeing you there on August 19 and 20!

I want to close by acknowledging all those across the 
province and, indeed, across the country, who came 
together to support the communities affected by the 
fires	in	and	around	Fort	McMurray/Wood	Buffalo.	The	
companies who call that community home, along with 
the government agencies that activate in emergencies, 
did a tremendous job before, during and after the 
evacuation. Every employee here wanted to do what 
they could and give what they had to help. This was, 
for many Albertans, their darkest hour. That’s EIA. 
That’s	the	people	who	work	here:	generous,	selfless,	
community-focused. 

Ultimately, that’s the theme of this annual report. No 
matter what happens or what life throws at us, it’s only 
by helping each other that we rise above.

Tom Ruth
President and CEO

An old adage tells us that adversity builds character. In the case of EIA, I would say 
adversity has demonstrated our character — who we are as a company, what we 
value and how we feel about the community we serve. There’s no question it’s been 
a challenging year for our province, our region and EIA. And I’ve never been more 
proud to be President and CEO of Edmonton Airports.

PRESIDENT  
AND CEO’S  
MESSAGE
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More	flights	to	more	places

Driving our region’s economic 
prosperity through aviation and 
commercial development

10 million annual enplaned and 
deplaned passengers by 2025

OUR 
CORE  
VALUESMISSION

GOAL

VISION

Improve	financial	sustainability	

Enhance passenger experience

Improve social, environmental and 
economic impacts

Enhance airline productivity

Improve employee engagement, 
performance and well-being

Strategic objectives Strategies 2016-2020
Retain and grow passenger market demand

Grow non-aeronautical revenue and development

Create exceptional customer experiences

Deliver positive community impact through sustainability 

Engage employees

Safety	and	security	first:	be	safe	and	secure
Own the outcome: deliver quality service and products
Doing the right things right: show individual and organizational integrity
Invested in our talent: be people-focused in respect, teamwork and collaboration
Dedicated	to	sustainability:	consider	social,	environmental	and	financial	impacts



Three new key routes. Three success stories  
to guide EIA’s push for more.

PICK A 
TULIP,

PICKLED 
HERRING

OR  
PICADILLY.
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STRENGTHENING 
INBOUND AND 
OUTBOUND  
TOURISM 

While overall passenger numbers were lower for EIA, 
our three international routes continued to grow.

EIA’s	work	to	attract	more	flights	to	more	places	continued	
to pay off in 2016 with the new seasonal non-stop service 
to London–Gatwick. Kicking off in May, this WestJet route 
provides travellers with another key non-stop destination, 
linking the region with an essential international hub 
thanks to our own Alberta air carrier.

Icelandair	added	an	additional	summer	flight	 to	 its	
incredibly popular year-round non-stop service between 
Edmonton and Reykjavik. This destination has become a 
favourite for travellers in the region looking for a unique 
(yet “nearby”) holiday destination. And, of course, 
Reykjavik serves as a connection to dozens of other 
international destinations.

In 2016, we also celebrated the one-year anniversary 
of KLM Royal Dutch Airlines’ non-stop passenger and 
cargo service to Amsterdam. This service not only 
connects the region to KLM’s huge global network of 
more than 120 destinations, but also opens a door to 
our region, the Rockies and the Canadian North for 
European business and holiday travellers — a target 
market we’ve succeeded in attracting to Edmonton 
thanks to our strong partnerships with tourism groups 

and other key stakeholders such as Travel Alberta, 
Edmonton Tourism, Tourism Jasper and Edmonton 
Destination Marketing Hotels.

The	number	of	passengers	using	these	three	flights	
grew by 8.6 per cent in 2016, proving that the market 
for international travel in Edmonton is in demand, and 
helping make a business case for new service.

With the slowdown in local economic growth, it is critical 
that we capitalize on the international air routes that 
enable more and more tourists from other countries 
to visit Edmonton and drive up room night stays.  
Our international service has brought in tourists from all 
over the world to visit, explore and inject tourism dollars 
into the local and regional economies.

In addition to inbound passengers, there was an increase 
in local and regional folks heading out on their very 
own European adventures. The possibilities are nearly 
limitless out of EIA when passengers connect through 
one of our three European destinations.

EIA’s work with community partners and airlines generates 
millions of dollars per year in new revenue for Edmonton 
through spending by inbound visitors.

EIA and its partners have set a strategy in motion to 
build	confidence	with	the	airlines	investing	in	Edmonton,	
and we will continue to push our current passenger 
market development efforts, focusing particularly on 
international inbound passenger segments.

Non-stop service
to London-Gatwick.

Air Service

YEG

LGW
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Low oil prices and a weakened Canadian dollar affected 
both employment and consumer confidence and, 
ultimately, people’s travel decision-making. Travel to 
the US, for example, decreased by 25.4 per cent in 
2016.	This	significant	reduction	in	passenger	travel	was	
coupled with a 29 per cent drop in the number of general 
and business aviation passengers, passengers who are 
mobile workers and people travelling to energy-based 
worksites on charter jets. Despite a challenging economy, 
our largest market, domestic travel held its own and, in 
fact, grew by two per cent over 2015.

The last few years have brought mild winters to the 
Edmonton region, which, naturally, decrease the number 
of sun-destination vacations that are booked. Like 
clockwork, you can guarantee that when a cold snap 
hits Alberta, those bookings go through the roof! But 
couple	the	warm	winter	we	saw	in	2016	with	the	financial	
uncertainty a lot of us faced, and it makes sense that 
international travel to the south saw a decrease of 17.7 
per cent. 

Amidst lower numbers in some sectors, the rising star 
of 2016 was trans-Atlantic travel, which saw an 8.6 per 
cent increase in the number of travellers enjoying air 
service to Reykjavik on Icelandair, Amsterdam on KLM 
and London on the new WestJet seasonal service.

These gains helped bolster our overall 2016 passenger 
total of 7,523,864, which was 5.7 per cent below the 
2015 tally.

This year, the doors to Rogers Place opened, and with 
them, the doors to unbelievable marketing opportunities 
from a travel and tourism perspective. We now have 
a new tool in our shed to attract tourists from all over 
the world — whether that be one of nine Garth Brooks 
concerts or a chance to see McDavid lead the Oilers 
to victory. 

Delta Air Lines, a member of the SkyTeam airline alliance 
with KLM and others, added a second daily non-stop 
flight	to	Seattle	in	June	in	response	to	the	demand	for	
that service. The investment made in our region by this 
group has had a huge impact on our air service options. 

We also welcomed NewLeaf Travel Company to EIA 
in 2016.

NON-STOP WORK 
TO ATTRACT 
MORE FLIGHTS  
TO MORE PLACES 

8.67,523,864
Total passengers
in 2016

% increase
in trans-Atlantic 
travel

Iceland. It’s where
your next European
vacation begins. 

Air Service
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In May, dry weather contributed to the ignition of a 
wildfire	southwest	of	Fort	McMurray.	On	May	3,	the	fire	
moved	into	the	city	and	triggered	the	largest	wildfire	
evacuation in Alberta’s history. The disaster also mobilized 
emergency personnel and services from across the 
province, the nation and the world.

The	wildfire,	dubbed	“The	Beast”	by	Fort	McMurray	Fire	
Chief Darby Allen (who emerged as a hero by offering 
hope and reassurance to the community he served), 
destroyed approximately 2,400 homes and buildings.

EIA’s Emergency Operation Centre (EOC) was launched 
to support the airlift of workers, families and other 
residents of the Fort McMurray/Wood Buffalo region. 
It proved to be the largest and longest emergency 
operation in our history.

We are grateful to have had the opportunity to serve 
our fellow Albertans. Many people (and their beloved 
animals), upon being airlifted out of Fort McMurray to 
EIA, stepped off the aircraft and began to cry. We feel 
privileged to have been there to offer support and hugs 
and to collect donations for the relief efforts. Our role 
in many respects was small, but every employee’s heart 
was with Fort McMurray … and a part of each of us will 
always be with the community.

Many were called upon to help. Numbers give you a 
sense of the large scope of doing the small part required 
to	help	our	friends.	These	facts	and	figures	also	remove	
any doubt that, together, we are #AlbertaStrong.

THE STRENGTH  
TO RISE ABOVE – 
THE SPIRIT  
TO SOAR

Fort McMurray Wildfire
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The 
Wildfire

In
Numbers

Emergency	evacuation	flights	received	by	
the EIA Emergency Operations Centre (the 
busiest EOC activation ever).

(estimated) Number of Edmonton Transit 
Service (ETS) and other buses used to 
transport evacuated workers and families 
to Northlands’ relief centre.

Highest number of free taxi trips provided 
by a single driver, from among the 
many cab drivers who gave free rides 
to evacuees.

(estimated) Number of strollers and car 
seats donated by people in the community 
and distributed by EIA and Suncor to 
passengers.

(estimated) Bottles of water handed out 
at EIA to arriving evacuees.

(estimated) Hours of operation at EIA’s relief 
centre, where evacuees could get water, 
snacks and meals, charge phones and other 
devices, watch news or seek support from 
Leduc & District Victim Services.

(estimated) Person-hours of victim services 
support provided by Leduc & District 
Victim Services at EIA’s relief centre.

(estimated) Pillowcases and blankets 
laundered for the relief centre and personal 
items laundered for evacuees—all by the 
Renaissance Edmonton International 
Airport Hotel and at no charge.

Rooms occupied by families, workers and 
responding personnel at the Renaissance 
Edmonton International Airport (total 
number of rooms at the hotel: 213).

Continuous hours of operation by the EIA 
Emergency Operations Centre (the longest 
EOC activation ever, surpassing even its 
involvement on September 11, 2001).

Patients transported by air to support 
hospital evacuation by Alberta Health 
Services.

Gates and bridges dedicated to emergency 
flights	only.

Terminals at EIA receiving evacuees (Main, 
Shell AeroCentre and Executive Flight 
Centre).

Agencies in EIA’s Emergency Operations 
Centre (Air Canada, Canadian North, CATSA, 
Edmonton Police Services, RCMP /Leduc 
RCMP Victim Services, Suncor and WestJet).

Types of pets transported by air: dogs, cats, 
birds, rabbits, snakes, lizards, spiders, insects, 
fish,	rodents	of	all	kinds	(gerbils,	hamsters,	
mice, guinea pigs) and one hedgehog.

Peak number of Edmonton Transit and 
Suncor buses onsite at one time to transport 
evacuated workers and families to Northlands’ 
relief centre.



2016 was a big year for cargo charters (non-scheduled 
cargo	flights)	operating	out	of	EIA.	We	served	a	number	
of new destinations and air carriers for one-off or 
recurring	flights.

Thanks to our trans-Atlantic cargo services to Amsterdam, 
shippers have access to the EU, the Middle East, Africa 
and South America. Combined with the existing services 
of FedEx, Cargojet, DHL and Canadian North, EIA’s new 
trans-Atlantic	and	trans-Pacific	routes	are	contributing	to	
EIA’s cargo hub growth. Our growing reputation aligns 
with EIA’s Port Alberta designation as a foreign trade 
zone, allowing companies to reduce or eliminate trade 
barriers, such as tariffs, quotas and compliance costs, 
to complement cargo hub development.

EIA continues to execute the consolidation of freight 
within the cargo village. Our reputation isn’t the only 
thing that’s growing in the world of cargo. More than 
250,000 square feet of new cargo facility space at EIA 
came online or was announced in 2016.

Rosenau Transport Ltd. moved into its 211,000-square-
foot facility in September and offers road connections 
to and from anywhere in western Canada located within 
a 24-hour drive of EIA. Rosenau has achieved full cargo 
road	carrier	certification	from	Transport	Canada	and	
is now set to meet all cargo needs with national and 
international connectivity through EIA’s extensive air 
cargo network.

Among the newest additions to EIA’s Cargo Village is 
Flying Fresh Air Freight (FFAF), a perishables and 
specialty freight forwarder. FFAF is a recognized leader 
in the transportation of perishable cargo throughout 
the world. 

Det’on Cho Logistics also opened its new cargo 
warehouse at EIA in 2016. Det’on Cho provides a suite 
of services, such as warehousing, air cargo handling, 
supply chain management and air charter services. 
Their expansion to EIA complements their Yellowknife 
and Vancouver operations.

In 2016, Aeroterm began construction of its new  
$10 million (USD) multi-use airport facility at EIA. The 
building, which is 100 per cent pre-leased, features 50,000 
square	feet	of	airside	flight	kitchen	and	air	cargo	support	
facilities. Tenants will include Gate Gourmet, ATS and 
Swissport International Ltd. Aeroterm opens in 2017.

Construction also began on the new 25,000-square-foot 
mixed-use cargo building for Runway Developments. 
Scheduled to open in 2017, this facility will offer leasing 
opportunities for customs brokers, logistics companies 
and freight forwarders. 

EIA continued to show strong growth in cargo in 2016 
as we supported business and industry in transporting 
their supplies and equipment to, from and through 
the region, stimulating economic growth. Our cargo 
volumes grew for the seventh consecutive year. Air 
China Cargo celebrated one year of service at EIA. This 
trans-Pacific	service	operates	twice	weekly	from	Shanghai	
to Edmonton, on to Chicago, then back to Edmonton, 
with a stop in Tianjin before returning to Shanghai. This 
truly national service, which connects with Cargojet and 
WestJet Cargo, is the only scheduled freighter destination 
between mainland China and Canada. 
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MORE 
FREIGHT TO 
MORE PLACES

New Major 
International Carriers*
Korean Air Cargo
Atlas Air
Lufthansa Cargo
Air Bridge Cargo
Etihad Cargo
NCA–Nippon Cargo Airlines

*Charters

New Points of
Origin/Destination*
Osaka and Fukuoka, Japan
Delhi, India
Moscow, Russia
Leipzig/Halle and Frankfurt, Germany
Marseille Provence, France

21Cargo



BEHOLD  
THE  

EIA OF  
TOMORROW

Join us as we take a look into the future  
at EIA’s aerotropolis model.
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RISING ABOVE  
THE ORDINARY

A key component of EIA’s development strategy is turning 
the airport into a destination, rather than a transit point, 
which	would	attract	passengers	to	fly	through	Edmonton	
instead of other routings.

As EIA’s aerotropolis model continues to develop and 
take	shape,	the	airport	expects	a	significant	 influx	of	
passenger	and	cargo	traffic	to	pass	through	its	doors	from	
two distinct target markets: regional and international 
inbound	traffic.

EIA has developed a regional hub strategy that will 
increase business by earning the business of passengers 
from connecting markets, such as Grande Prairie or 
Saskatoon,	to	fly	through	Edmonton	to	connect	to	their	
final	destination.	The	strategy	also	focuses	on	attracting	
cargo to EIA through Rosenau Transport’s ground network 
between these regional markets and our air network 
through operators like Cargojet.

The ultimate goal of our regional hub strategy is to 
serve our prairie region customers and build demand 
and grow capacity for domestic, US and international 
routes that are already in place. The launch of European 
non-stop service via KLM, Icelandair and WestJet has 
generated new regional growth because of the larger 
catchment	connections	through	these	flights.	We’re	
making the most of this growing trend by using our 
commercial and cargo developments as added incentive 
for passengers to connect through Edmonton. For 
example, passengers may choose to visit the area a few 
days	before	their	flight	through	EIA	so	they	can	spend	
time at the new outlet shopping development and take 
advantage of other amenities. Connecting commercial 
and cargo development to air service helps us put more 
horsepower into the regional economic engine.

Our other air service strategy focuses on attracting 
international	inbound	traffic	that	combines	leisure	and	
business travel. EIA collaborates with key partners 

such as Edmonton Tourism, Edmonton Destination 
Marketing Hotels, Travel Alberta and Tourism Jasper to 
build demand from international markets to Edmonton. 
We promote and sell tourism packages to international 
visitors that include the best of both Edmonton and our 
partner communities (for example, a mountain excursion 
to Jasper or a northern trip to Yellowknife). Partnering 
with nearby destinations, we create trip itineraries that 
combine Edmonton’s city lights, shopping, dining and 
festivals with our partners’ Northern Lights, outdoor 
adventures, skiing, dogsledding and so much more.

The airport plays a critical role in bolstering the regional 
economy by facilitating hotel night stays and tourist 
spending in Edmonton. The international market is a key 
sector here. We expect the aerotropolis to contribute 
greatly to this economic growth by attracting even more 
interest and tourism to the region.

We’re	also	 looking	for	the	aerotropolis	 to	 influence	
business travel by adding another reason for meeting 
and convention organizers to choose Edmonton as 
a host city. Our plan is to give them too many great 
options for shopping, dining and eating to want to go 
anywhere else. And, with plenty of on-site pre- and 
post-conference activities available, business travellers 
will have an opportunity to engage with entertainment 
and retail options right at EIA. Ultimately, an enhanced 
experience at the airport will provide an even better 
impression for travellers who might be in Edmonton 
for	the	very	first	time.	Our	goal	is	to	transform	first-time	
visitors into regulars.

The relationship between commercial development and 
airport operations is a match made in heaven. It’s like 
mashed potatoes and gravy, ice cream and chocolate 
sauce, maple syrup and bacon (just go with it).  Everything 
we’re doing at and around EIA is about injecting life into 
the local economy and creating an absolutely fabulous 
experience	for	visitors	with	extensive	benefits	for	the	
community we’re so privileged to serve.

Connecting development and air service

Commercial Development
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Commercial development at EIA serves multiple purposes. 
The employment generated — from construction to 
the moment the doors are opened for business — is a 
significant	economic	generator	for	the	region.	In	addition,	
the leasing revenue from these projects is invested back 
into the airport. All development at EIA is strategically 
chosen as part of a holistic aerotropolis plan — a plan 
to create an airport city.

Private investment at EIA made 2016 a banner year 
for development. In addition to the completion of 
the Rosenau Transport Ltd. warehouse and shipping 
facility, construction began on the 585,000-square-foot 
Premium Outlet Collection–EIA. Located on the west 
side of the Queen Elizabeth II highway, this collection 
of outlet shops, restaurants and services will create 
between 1,000 and 1,500 permanent jobs and attract 
further investment to the airport. 

The amount of land EIA has available for development 
opens up considerable innovative opportunities not 
feasible for other Canadian airports. Horseracing 
Alberta announced that they have selected Century 
Casinos to develop a new mile-long racetrack at the 
airport. The facility will include a restaurant as well as 
other entertainment, including slot machines. 

In the terminal building, HNZ Topflight began training 
pilots	in	a	state-of-the-art	helicopter	flight	simulator,	the	
first	of	its	kind	in	North	America.	The	device	so	closely	
replicates	actual	flight	conditions	that	pilots	will	receive	
credit for in-aircraft hours as part of an approved training 
program.	The	$3.5	million	flight-training	device	provides	
training for one of the most popular commercial helicopter 
types. The new simulator is the latest initiative of the 
Alberta Aerospace and Technology Centre (AATC), a 
partnership that includes Canadian Helicopters (an HNZ 
Topflight	company),	EIA,	Canadian	North,	the	Edmonton	
Economic Development Corporation (EEDC) and the 
Government of Alberta. AATC also supported the 
installation by Canadian North of an advanced Boeing 
737 simulator at EIA in 2015. 

Canadian-owned and operated Aurora Cannabis started 
construction of its 800,000-square-foot facility at EIA in 
2016. When complete, this facility will be the world’s 
largest and most advanced medical cannabis production 
facility. As well, 80 per cent of this product is expected 
to be shipped via air cargo.

GROWING 
AIR SERVICE 
BY GROWING 
BUSINESS

Premium Outlet
Collection-EIA

ARRIVING  MAY 2, 2018

Commercial Development
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TO 
ARRIVE
EARLY.

EIA’s newest dining establishment is sure to  
score big with your taste buds.
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If you like whisky, we’ve got a great one. In fact, we’ve 
got THE Great One! In 2016, HMSHost opened No. 99 
Gretzky’s	Wine	and	Whisky	at	EIA.	A	first-ever	airport	
location for this brand, No. 99 Gretzky’s Wine and 
Whisky is a full-service, family-friendly restaurant featuring 
Wayne Gretzky Estates wines and his new line of Red 
Cask Premium Canadian Whisky. The menu features 
full breakfasts and a series of delicious appetizers and 
share plates, plus a kids’ menu for the “discerning” 
young eater. Wayne Gretzky’s favourite item on the 
menu is his Grandma Mary’s perogies — a true legacy 
to the Gretzky family’s Polish history. The hockey great 
himself, along with members of his family, was on hand 
to “assist” (a little hockey humour there) with the grand 
opening festivities in October. Not surprisingly, the event 
generated a lot of media interest. 

People in our region view Wayne Gretzky as a true 
hometown hero because of his years with the Edmonton 
Oilers between 1979 and 1988. During that time, he 
helped lead the team to four Stanley Cups. Holding 
over 60 records in hockey, Gretzky has been called 
“the greatest hockey player ever” by many, including 
the NHL itself. He is also loved by the people in our 
region because he has never left Edmonton behind. He 
continues to be a presence and force in the community 
and to invest in its success. Around the same time we 
opened this restaurant, Wayne was named partner and 
vice chairman of the Oilers Entertainment Group and the 
Oilers	made	the	play-offs	for	the	first	time	in	11	years	in	
Spring 2017. We’re proud and honoured to have “No. 
99” become part of our airport family, just as he retains 
his place in our Edmonton family.

Making the most of 
advertising space

Creative use of our terminal’s 
advertising space creates a triple 
win by bolstering advertising 
revenues, boosting concession 
revenues and improving 
wayfinding,	so	every	passenger	
gets where he or she is going 
quickly. We’ve partnered with 
Pattison Outdoor Advertising 
as our in-terminal third-party 
advertiser. Pattison installed 
several digital ribbons that  
gave EIA another way to 
notify our passengers about 
concessions options. 

We’ve also launched innovative 
campaigns in the Easy Parkade 
as well as on the outside of 
our terminal building. Pattison 
has contracted for terminal 
campaigns with local jewellers, 
financial	institutions	and	auto	
manufacturers — it’s impossible 
to miss Lexus’ giant tower-wrap 
and vehicle display — to create 
immersive advertising at the 
airport. 

GOAL!  
NO. 99 GRETZKY’S  
WINE AND WHISKY

Edmonton Eskimos 
Sports Bar

In December, we opened the 
Edmonton Eskimos Sports Bar, 
an exclusive new full-service 
dining venue operated by 
HMSHost. The restaurant offers 
travellers an exciting dining 
experience featuring game- 
day inspired cuisine (including 
Green and Gold Nachos) and 
a festive venue celebrating the 
Eskimos’ storied history in the 
Canadian Football League. We 
celebrated the grand opening 
with Edmonton Eskimos 
players and cheerleaders and 
representatives from HMSHost. 
While dining on Edmonton 
Eskimos Sports Bar’s food and 
drink, travellers can relax by 
the	floor-to-ceiling	windows	
overlooking	the	airfield	
apron. It’s the perfect spot for 
plane watching or dreaming 
about the Eskimos’ next Grey 
Cup win. The Edmonton 
Eskimos Sports Bar is another 
touchdown in our restaurant 
offerings for passengers!

Concessions



Amazing is one way to describe Villeneuve Airport.  
Expanding is another.

UP, UP 
AND  

AMAZING!
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The Northern Lights aren’t Edmonton’s only dazzling 
show to be seen in the sky. Every year, thousands of 
people make their way to Villeneuve Airport to take 
in the Edmonton Airshow in August. In 2016 over 
two days, 25,000 attendees looked way up and said, 
“Amazing!”  Amazing really is the perfect adjective to 
describe Villeneuve Airport itself.

This airport is our region’s primary general aviation 
airport. It’s a facility for police helicopters, medevacs, 
flight	training,	recreational	flying	and	corporate	flights.	
In 2016, the airport logged 54,794 successful landings 
and takeoffs.

The really great news is that Villeneuve Airport is 
expanding. The airport’s expansion accommodates 
economic growth in our region with new facilities that 
are either completed or under construction. BDK Air 
now has a new hangar. Prop Works/Hi-Noon has begun 
construction of a hangar on Lot 10. And the Villeneuve 
Airport	welcomed	its	second	fixed-base	operator	—	
Polaris Air. Polaris Air broke ground in 2016 and its 
new 25,000 square-foot facility is under construction.

Aviation enthusiasts have even more to get excited 
about. More indoor space that is. Space that is being 
made available to house aircraft with four additional lots 
now available for lease. That’s because Phase 1 lots have 
already	been	filled.	The	airport’s	growing	popularity	is	
driving the need for expansion. EIA continues to work 
with on-site tenants, owners and operators to develop 
and prioritize projects at the airport. A key to Villeneuve’s 
future expansion is development of a way to connect the 
existing water reservoir to the county’s supply line. EIA 
continues to work with its regional partner on this issue.

In the spirit of celebrating all things successful, 2016 
saw Villeneuve Airport putting in place plans to honour 
Canada’s 150th birthday. On August 19 and 20, 2017, 
the airport will say Happy Birthday Canada with the help 
of the Royal Canadian Air Force Snowbirds at the third 
annual Edmonton Airshow. The perfect way to celebrate 
our country’s major milestone and the continued success 
of Villeneuve Airport. Visit edmontonairshow.com to 
purchase tickets and get more information.

A REGIONAL
JEWEL

Villeneuve Airport

Aviation 
enthusiasts  
have even  

more to get  
excited about. 
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Parking

EIA’s parking products continue to provide customers 
with a variety of parking options, from valet parking at the 
terminal building to jetSet Parking as you approach the 
airport	from	the	highway.	Our	five	parking	products	offer	
a wide variety of services designed to meet the individual 
needs of business and leisure travellers. Parking product 
promotions through various advertising campaigns generated 
increased bookings; the EIA rewards program alone was 
responsible for 34 per cent of all parking reservations and 
29 per cent of all revenues. 

Together, EIA rewards and other parking promotions have 
made jetSet a very popular place. Despite reductions in 
passenger	traffic,	jetSet	reservations	using	a	promo	code	
increased by 41 per cent, with revenues up 35 per cent. 
Revenue from our parking products is re-invested back 
into the airport.

Safety and Security

In	September,	EIA	and	regional	first	responders	conducted	a	
joint emergency training exercise. The training simulated an 
aircraft	emergency	at	EIA,	 including	significant	emergency	
services activity, smoke and loud noises as part of the exercise. 
Normal airport operations were not affected. Exercises such 
as	these	help	first	responders	from	EIA,	RCMP,	Leduc	County	
and Alberta Health Services to test emergency response plans 
and practise emergency procedures. 

To ensure we’re ready to keep people safe and secure, it is our 
responsibility to prepare for even the worst possible situations. 
That’s why we held a full-scale Active Shooter Exercise in March 
to test the responses of police, security, the Canadian Airport 
Transportation Safety Agency (CATSA) and United States Customs 
and Border Protection (USCBP) should an event like that occur. 
Over 150 volunteers participated in this exercise that, in turn, 
provided great training for all the agencies involved. By the 
end of 2016, more than 900 EIA and tenant employees had 
received Active Shooter Awareness Training. Ongoing training 
is held each month. Repetition and regular training are key 
components to being prepared for an emergency.

Efficient,	friendly	ground	transportation	is	an	essential	
part of a passenger’s overall satisfaction with their airport. 
EIA works closely with its ground transportation partners 
to ensure passengers have an exceptional experience 
travelling to and from EIA.

This	year,	TappCar	and	EIA	finalized	an	agreement	to	
allow passengers who subscribe to TappCar to arrange 
a pick-up or drop-off using their smartphones. EIA is 
the	first	major	Canadian	airport	to	 license	a	private	
transportation provider.

CARE, 
CONVENIENCE, 
VALUE

IN CASE OF 
EMERGENCY, 
BE PREPARED

FROM WINGS  
TO WHEELS

Parking, Ground Tansportation Safety and Security



3938 39

Any success we achieve as an airport means nothing 
without our community. We are here for and because of our 
community. This has been a challenging year for the entire 
region, and we believe we play a role in helping everyone 
rise above the challenges they face. That’s why we give 
back to the community of which we’re a part. 

Thanks to the generosity of the community and our partner 
businesses, this year’s sixth annual EIA Charity Golf Classic 
raised $175,000 for Youth Empowerment and Support 
Service (YESS), Riseup Society Alberta and the Leduc and 
District Food Bank. Over its six years, the EIA Charity Golf 
Classic has raised a total of $795,000.

EIA sponsored a children’s tent once again at the 2016 
Servus Heritage Festival at Hawrelak Park in Edmonton. 
Interactive games and experiences for children who visited 
the tent gave parents a bit of a breather. EIA was once 
again pleased to provide sponsorship for world-class events 
such as ITU World Triathlon Edmonton, Tour of Alberta and 
the Edmonton Folk Music Festival. And EIA was proud to 
support	many	regional	non-profit	organizations	that	play	
a key role in making our community and region a better 
place to live, work and play. 

One of most popular programs at EIA continues to be our 
live music program. Local musicians play at the airport, 
giving them exposure and the opportunity to perform 
for an audience. Their music does so much in creating a 
welcoming, friendly, relaxing experience for travellers. When 
people tell us the music makes them forget they’re in an 
airport, we take it as a huge compliment. 

Our partnership with the Pet Therapy Society of Northern  
Alberta continues to bring joy and relaxation to our passengers 
(and employees).

 

STANDING 
STRONG 
TOGETHER

THANK YOU 
FOR BEING 
A FRIEND

Our EIA rewards efforts for 2016 included growing our 
membership and understanding our customers in new ways. 
We integrated four different datasets to gain customer 
insight and improve our programs. Our goal is to build a 
relationship that leads our customers to make EIA their airport 
of choice, which includes using EIA’s non-stop destinations, 
parking, restaurants and retail. 

The rewards program allows EIA to talk with passengers 
in a unique way about the airport and our 60 non-stop 
destinations. Corporate customers, connecting passengers 
and local travellers receive customized offers each month 
that help enhance their travel experience. For example, 
connecting passengers can enjoy complimentary access 
to the Plaza Premium Lounge and corporate customers are 
offered enhanced parking with Easy Parkade and Priority 
Valet service. 

All passengers are eligible for the core program offerings, 
including guaranteed parking discounts, entry into the 
monthly	flights	 for	 two	draws	to	one	of	our	non-stop	
destinations, premium Wi-Fi and new offers from our  
in-terminal businesses and partners every month. The 
program is managed completely online through monthly 
emails, and participants don’t have to collect points to 
redeem EIA rewards	offers	or	benefits	 (we	want	 it	to	be	
easy to be our friend).

We’re very proud of the interest EIA rewards is receiving 
from passengers and the community. By encouraging our 
passengers	to	fly	through	EIA	with	our	rewards program, 
we	continue	to	strengthen	and	grow	the	flight	options	from	
Edmonton. To join EIA rewards	visit	flyeia.com/rewards.

Community Partnerships EIA rewards

Rewarding 
passengers 

with non-stop 
destinations
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TURNING 
GREEN INTO 
GOLD

In January, EIA was awarded the Leadership in Energy 
and Environmental Design (LEED®)	Gold	certification	
for the South Terminal expansion and the LEED® 
Gold	certification	for	the	new	combined	office	tower	
(Central Tower). LEED®	certification	is	achieved	through	
independent review of design, construction, operation 
and maintenance practices, is used by 150 countries and 
is also recognized by the Canada Green Building Council 
(CaGBC).	Not	only	does	this	certification	demonstrate	
EIA’s commitment to environmental performance, it 
also creates a healthy environment for passengers and 
employees.	EIA	is	the	first	airport	terminal	in	Canada	
to achieve the LEED®	Gold	certification.

We	remain	seriously	committed	to	financial,	environmental	
and social sustainability. In 2016, Corporate Knights, the 
magazine supporting “Clean Capitalism,” recognized EIA 
as one of Canada’s “Future 40 Responsible Corporate 
Leaders” for our sustainability performance. 

We seek to advance sustainability in a two-pronged 
approach:

We’ve kept on target with the carbon-neutral growth 
strategy we established in 2015, aligning with the 
commitments to emissions set by the City of Edmonton, 
the province of Alberta, the government of Canada and 
the International Civil Aviation Organization. In terms of 
emissions and other areas of sustainability, we continue 
to collaborate with our stakeholders and respond to the 
interests of our community. 

Sustainability Reporting

We report on our sustainability efforts and progress in two 
ways. First, our entire Annual Report is an overarching 
testament to our commitment to sustainability. The Annual 
Report focuses on a range of topics, including safety, 
employee and stakeholder engagement, volunteerism 
and community investment, all of which connect back to 
financial,	environmental	or	social	sustainability.

Our Sustainability Report supplements our Annual Report 
by highlighting key changes in our sustainability story, 
our recent successes and our commitments to improve.

ENGAGED AND 
EFFECTIVE

The dedication of our employees, coupled with a positive 
work culture, are two of the most important ingredients 
in our overall success here at EIA. We strive to create 
an environment that fosters creativity and allows each 
of our employees to reach their potential. 

Whether that be implementing 50 or so of the many 
ideas from an employee-generated repository since 
its creation in 2015, or special recognition when an 
employee goes above and beyond, our culture stands 
apart from that of other companies. 

But how can you really quantify something often thought 
of as abstract — something such as engagement? Our 
answer: annual employee engagement surveys. In 2016, 
99 per cent of employees completed the survey, the 
best we’ve ever achieved and well above the average 
for Alberta companies. Our people are clearly motivated 
to participate and excel. 

Our employees have worked tremendously hard over the 
last year, a year in which we have all had to manage through 
a	difficult	economic	climate.	This	is	a	strong	testament	
to the success of EIA as a world-class organization.

Transparency 
and Awareness

We invest in research and 
share what we learn and know.

Engagement 
and Action

We take action that uses 
shared knowledge to lead to 
positive change.

Sustainability Corporate Culture

We are 
invested  

in our 
employees.



43

Rising
above

the 
crowd.

AWARDS AND 
ACCOLADES

Service to our passengers means everything to us. 
Our commitment to service is enshrined in our brand 
promise: we’ll move you. Receiving awards isn’t about 
telling ourselves we’re great, it’s an indicator that we’re 
doing right by our passengers and community. It’s an 
indicator that we’re leaders in creating an outstanding 
airport experience for everyone who comes through 
our doors. We’re making a difference in how people 
feel about being at the airport. That’s everything.  
That’s what moves us.

2016 ACI–NA Concessions Awards 

• First place, Best Green Concessions Practice 
or Concept

• Second place, Best Food and Beverage Program 
for medium airports

2016 ACI–NA MarComm Awards

• Honourable mention in Brand Identity

• Honourable mention in Video and Film 
Production

• Honourable mention in Print Communications

• Honourable mention in Social Media Campaigns

• Honourable mention in Digital Advertising

2016 Safety Partner Recognition Award Ceremony

• Airport Council International (ACI) Airport 
Excellence (APEX) in Safety Programme Award

2016 Applied Arts Magazine Design Annual

• Winner in Annual Report category for Non-Stop 
Annual Report

• Winner in Corporate Social Responsibility Report 
category – Non-Stop Sustainability Report

2016 Communication Arts Magazine

• Winner in Brochure category for Non-Stop 
Annual Report

Cannes Lions Design Festival

• Shortlist in Communication Design, Annual 
Reports & Other Corporate Communication – 
Non-Stop Annual Report

• Shortlist in Use of Design Craft, Illustration:  
Print & Editorial - Non-Stop Annual Report

2016 Marketing Awards

• Winner of Bronze, Design, Annual Reports – 
Print and/or Digital, for “Annual Report 2014 
‘Non-Stop’”

2016 Graphis Award

• Winner of Graphis Annual Report 2014-2016 
for Non-Stop Annual Report

2016 ACE (Advertising Club of Edmonton) Awards

• Winner for Non-Stop Annual Report

• Award of Distinction for Brand Pride Book

2016 Building Owners and Managers Association 
of Canada (BOMA)

• Certificate	of	Building	Excellence	for	the 
Air Terminal Building

2016 Building Owners and Managers Association 
of Canada (BOMA)

• The Outstanding Building of the Year (TOBY) 
for the Air Terminal Building

 2016 Airport Revenue News Awards

• Concessions Management Team of the Year 
award for small airports.

• Best performing airport in North America 
in terms of sales per enplaned passenger 
(excluding	duty	free)	(for	fiscal	year	2015)

2016 Alberta’s Top Employers

• Selected as one of Alberta’s Top 70 Employers

Awards
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Board Composition

The Board of Directors of Edmonton Airports consists of 
a	maximum	of	fifteen	(15)	members.	Six	(6)	Directors	are	
appointed by the City of Edmonton, two (2) Directors are 
appointed by the Government of Canada and one (1) 
Director each is appointed by Leduc County, the City of 
Leduc, Parkland County, Strathcona County and Sturgeon 
County. The Board has two (2) at-large appointments 
that	are	used	to	fill	any	gaps	 in	skills,	experience	or	
background. Currently, the desired skills, experience 
and background are represented on the Board and the 
Board	has	elected	not	to	fill	the	two	at-large	positions.

Board Governance

The Board is responsible for the stewardship, strategic 
direction and oversight of the business and affairs of 
Edmonton Airports. In carrying out these responsibilities, 
the Board endeavours to maintain and seek continuous 
improvement in high standards of Board governance.  

Some of the key governance functions of the Board include 
adopting and monitoring compliance with an ethics code, 
reviewing and approving Edmonton Airports’ strategic 
plan, annual business plan and report on sustainability, 
Chief	Executive	Officer	 (CEO)	succession	planning,	
and	satisfying	 itself	 that	management	has	 identified	
the principal risks of the business and implemented 
appropriate systems to manage those risks.   

Pursuant to a thorough review and discussion of emerging 
good governance trends, effective January 1, 2016, the 
Board eliminated the position of Board Vice-Chair and the 
associated duties of the Vice Chair were amalgamated 
into the duties, responsibilities and position description 
of the Chair of the Governance and Human Resources 
Committee (hereinafter the “Governance Committee”).  
In	addition,	having	fulfilled	 its	mandate,	 the	Board	
disbanded the Real Estate Development Oversight 
Committee effective December 13, 2016.

In 2016, the Government of Canada announced that it 
was implementing a new process for all Federal board 
appointment and re-appointment opportunities. The 
new process is designed to address several key pillars 
announced by the Government with the objective 
of creating an open, transparent, gender- balanced, 
ethnically diverse and merit-based selection process. 
One (1) Government of Canada board appointment 
was subject to the new process; however, due to delays 
in implementation of the process and posting of the 
position, and as the incumbent federal appointee’s term 
on the Board expired effective December 31, 2016, the 
position is currently vacant. The incumbent Federal Board 
appointee’s term expired effective December 31, 2016, 
and the position is currently vacant. It is anticipated that 
a replacement Federal appointee to the position will 
be selected in early 2017. 

LEADING US
FORWARD

Surom
itra Sanatani

Ralph Young
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 Bashir
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45Board Governance
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BOARD CHANGES 
IN 2016

BOARD
MANDATE

Ralph Young (City of Edmonton) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2016.

Joan Hertz (City of Edmonton) was appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2016.

Suromitra Sanatani (City of Edmonton) was appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2016.

Leonard Blumenthal (Leduc County) retired from the Board effective December 31, 2016.*

Mary Cameron’s (Government of Canada) term on the Board expired effective December 31, 2016.**

Naseem Bashir (City of Edmonton) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2017.

Dale Klein (Sturgeon County) was re-appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2017.

Tim Hofstra (Leduc County) was appointed to the Board effective January 1, 2017.

* Retired after serving the maximum permitted term for a Director (two consecutive terms of four years each).

** Served an initial four-year term; however, the new Government of Canada process implemented in 2016 requires  
all Federal Board appointment and re-appointment opportunities to be publically posted and applied for, requiring 
Mary Cameron to step down from the Board effective December 31, 2016 and reapply in order to be re-appointed.   

1.1 Governance Principles and Guidelines
The Board will perform its overall stewardship responsibilities as a governance board rather than 
a management board and will have regard to:

(a) Edmonton Airports’ guiding principles of vision, mission and core values;

(b) accountability to stakeholders and the community through appropriate transparent processes, 
disclosure practices and effective communication, including feedback mechanisms;

(c) national and international airport best practices; and

(d) Corporate Governance Guidelines as recommended by the Canadian Securities Administrators, 
the Canadian Coalition for Good Governance and the Institute of Corporate Directors.

1.2 Board Stewardship
The Board is responsible for the stewardship, strategic direction and oversight of the business and 
affairs of Edmonton Airports, including:

(a) satisfying itself that executive management of Edmonton Airports practice and create a culture 
throughout the organization that includes the core values approved by the Board and articulated 
in the strategic plan;

(b) adopting an ethics code and monitoring compliance with the Board-approved Ethics Code, and 
satisfying itself that executive management of Edmonton Airports practice and create an ethical 
corporate culture;

(c) following a strategic planning process which takes into account among other things, the 
opportunities and risks of the business and sustainability, through the adoption and monitoring 
of the strategic plan and annual business plan;

(d)	 satisfying	itself	that	executive	management	has	identified	the	principal	risks	of	the	business	and	
implemented appropriate systems to manage these risks;

(e) satisfying itself that executive management has contingency/emergency replacement plans in 
place for executive management and essential operational positions and succession plans in place 
for management;

(f) satisfying itself that executive management has adopted a communication policy for the 
stakeholders and community, which policy shall ensure effective measures for receiving feedback 
from the stakeholders and the community; and

(g) satisfying itself that executive management is monitoring internal controls and management 
information systems.

Board Governance



4948

1.3 Board Responsibilities
Only the Board will:

(a) appoint or remove at-large directors;

(b)	 appoint	or	remove	officers;

(c) appoint or remove the auditor;

(d) approve the responsibilities and compensation of the Board, Board Chair and Board Committees;

(e) review environmental, safety and security programs established by management, including 
standards, insurance coverage and regulatory compliance;

(f) authorize the issuing of securities;

(g) authorize the raising of money by Edmonton Airports;

(h)	 approve	the	giving	of	financial	assistance,	directly	or	indirectly,	by	means	of	a	loan,	guarantee	or	
otherwise;

(i)	 approve	annual	audited	financial	statements;

(j) approve corporate goals and objectives and assess corporate performance;

(k) select, evaluate and establish compensation for the President and CEO; 

(l) plan President and CEO succession;

(m) approve Special Resolution matters, including;

(i) amendment of Articles,

(ii) sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the assets of Edmonton Airports,

(iii)	 the	appointment	of	a	Director	as	a	director	or	officer	of	an	Affiliate,

(iv)	 the	appointment	of	a	Subsidiary	director	as	a	director	of	officer	of	an	Affiliate,

(v) equests of the Board to the reviewer appointed under section 29 of the Regional 
Airports Authorities Act,

(vi) amendment, replacement or repeal of Bylaws,

(vii) entering into an agreement to manage and operate an airport not previously managed 
and operated by Edmonton Airports,

(viii)	participation	with	Affiliates,	and

(ix) any material change to any Airport Master Plan.

1.4 Board Authorizations
The Board authorizes:

(a)	 the	Audit	Committee	to	approve	quarterly	unaudited	financial	statements	and	the	annual	audit	
plan;

(b) the President and CEO to manage all aspects of Edmonton Airports, consistent with all Board-
approved plans, which authority includes the right of the President and CEO to delegate authority 
to other employees;

(c) the Board Chair to appoint ad hoc Committees to act on matters between Board meetings; 

(d) the Governance and Human Resources Committee to make determinations respecting 
disclosures,	made	pursuant	to	the	Conflict	of	Interest	Rules,	that	the	disclosed	interest	would	
not	materially	or	detrimentally	conflict	with	the	interests	of	Edmonton	Airports	or	give	rise	to	an	
appearance	of	a	conflict	of	interest,	or	give	direction	respecting	actions	or	processes	to	manage	
the disclosed interest; and

(e) the Real Estate Development Oversight Committee to establish guidelines for Board oversight 
of non-AIF funded income-generating real estate development opportunities on Edmonton 
Airports’ lands to support Edmonton Airports’ Vision and Mission and to review and make 
recommendations to the Board with respect to any investment or income-generating real estate 
development opportunities that fall outside of the approved guidelines.

1.5 Board Effectiveness
The Board, with support from Board Committees as required, will:

(a) meet at least four times per year;

(b) review appropriate and timely management reports;

(c) appoint an Audit Committee, Governance and Human Resources Committee and Real Estate 
Development Oversight Committee with Board-approved mandates;

(d) appoint a Special Committee with a Board-approved mandate for a capital project or series of 
capital projects that could materially affect the credit or reputation of Edmonton Airports, as 
determined by the Board;

(e) conduct regular assessments of the Board, Board Committees, Board Chair, Board Committee 
Chairs and individual directors;

(f) annually review the Board Mandate and Workplan, Board Committee Mandates and Workplans, 
Terms	of	Reference	for	a	Director,	Director’s	Confirmation,	Acknowledgement	and	Declaration,	
and position descriptions for the Board Chair, Board Committee Chairs, President and CEO, 
Corporate Secretary and Board Secretary, to ensure clear delineation of responsibilities and 
expectations;

(g) establish a comprehensive director development program for directors consisting of director 
selection, orientation and continuing education;

(h)	 review	size	and	makeup	of	the	Board	and	participate	in	filling	Board	vacancies;

(i) directly engage advisors as required;

(j) meet in camera with the President and CEO at each meeting and as the Board at the beginning 
and end of each meeting to ensure independence from management; and

(k)	 require	directors	to	annually	sign	a	Directors’	Confirmation,	Acknowledgement	and	Declaration.

Board Governance
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DISCLOSURE OF CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Under National Policy 58-201 Corporate Governance Guidelines and the accompanying National 
Instrument 58-101 Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, published by the Canadian Securities 
Administrators, public companies are required to disclose their corporate governance practices.  
Although not subject to governance rules that apply to public companies, Edmonton Airports is 
committed to implementing corporate governance practices that are in alignment with practices required 
of public companies, adapting them to Edmonton Airports’ status as a non-share corporation. The 
following is Edmonton Airports’ disclosure of its Corporate Governance Practices.

Composition of the Board

Independence of Directors All Edmonton Airports Directors are independent.

Independence of Board Chair The Board Chair is an independent director. The Board Chair’s role 
and responsibilities are described in the Board Chair’s Position 
Description.

2016 Attendance Record of each Director

Attendance – Board & Committee Meetings 2016

Board
Audit 
Committee

Governance & 
Human Resources 
Committee

Real Estate 
Development 
Oversight 
Committee

Naseem Bashir 4/4 4/4 1/1

Leonard Blumenthal 4/4 4/4

Mary Cameron 3/4 1/1

Murray Hales 4/4 4/4

Darrell Jones 4/4 4/4 1/1

Dale Klein 3/4 4/4 1/1***

Maureen McCaw 4/4 3/3** 3/3 1/1***

Joan Hertz 4/4 2/2* 1/1*

Robert Petryk 4/4 3/3

Jay Ramotar 4/4 3/3

Suromitra Sanatani 4/4 2/2* 1/1*

Gail Stepanik-Keber 3/4 3/4 3/3

Ralph Young 4/4 3/3 1/1

    * Non-member – attended at request of Committee Chair
  ** Non-member – attended as Board Chair
***	Ex-officio	Member

Director Independence

In Camera Meetings In camera sessions are held at the beginning and end of every Board 
and Board Committee meeting, in accordance with the Board and 
Board Committee Mandates.

Board Mandate

Board Mandate The Board has a written mandate that sets out its role and 
responsibilities. The text of the Board Mandate is set out herein.

Position Descriptions

Position Descriptions The Board has written position descriptions for the Board Chair, 
the Governance Committee Chair, the Audit Committee Chair, the 
President and CEO, the Corporate Secretary and the Board Secretary.

Orientation and Continuing Education 

New Director Orientation The Director Development Program sets out an orientation program 
for new directors, which is designed to provide a comprehensive 
introduction to Edmonton Airports and to the Board’s governance 
policies and practices. The program includes, inter alia, orientation 
sessions with the Board Chair and the Governance Committee Chair 
(as requested), Corporate Secretary, President and CEO and Executive 
Management, as well as attendance at one meeting of each Board 
Committee	in	the	new	director’s	first	year,	and	tours	of	the	facilities	
operated by Edmonton Airports.

Director Continuing Education The Policy for Director Development provides for funding for director 
development. The Director Development Program sets out a program 
for Continuing Education to expand a director’s knowledge of the 
aviation industry, government policy, business risk, competition and 
governance.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

Written Code of Business  
Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted a written Ethics Code applicable to 
Edmonton	Airports’	Directors,	Officers,	Executive	Management	
and Employees. The Board monitors compliance of Directors by 
requiring	Directors	to	annually	sign	the	Director’s	Confirmation,	
Acknowledgement and Declaration Form. 

Conflict	of	Interest	Rules The	Conflict	of	Interest	Rules	that	form	part	of	the	Ethics	Code	
requires completion (annually) of a Personal Information Form and 
disclosure of all interests, activities, investments, memberships 
and	appointments	that	Directors,	Officers,	Executive	Management	
and Employees have become involved with that may materially 
or	detrimentally	conflict	with	the	interests	of	Edmonton	Airports,	
or any interests that may reasonably be perceived as giving rise 
to	an	appearance	of	a	conflict	of	interest.	The	Board	implements	
appropriate processes to manage disclosed interests, such as 
requiring Directors who have a material interest in a transaction to 
recuse themselves from discussions concerning those transactions. 

Board Governance
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Nomination of Directors

Nomination and Appointment 
of Directors

The Director Selection Process, which is a component of the Director 
Development Program, provides for a strategic, disciplined and 
transparent process to bring the skill sets and competencies required 
on the Board. The process consists of:

1. Gap analysis conducted by the Governance Committee to identify 
anticipated gaps in the skill sets and competencies set out in the 
skills matrix maintained by the Board;

2. Communication of selection criteria to the Appointer for the 
Appointer’s consideration and in the case of Government of 
Canada appointment opportunities the appropriate criteria 
for insertion on the position posting advertisement. Where 
appropriate, the Board encourages the Appointer to utilize 
a	search	firm	to	assist	in	identifying	candidates;

3. Meeting of the Governance Committee Chair and Board Chair, 
and where possible other Governance Committee members and 
with the candidate to communicate the skill set and competencies 
required, expectations of time commitment and application of 
Conflicts	of	Interest	rules.	Meetings	with	the	Board	Chair	and	other	
Directors are arranged to get to know the candidate;

4. For Government of Canada appointee opportunities, beginning 
in 2017, in addition to point 3 above, meeting of the Board Chair 
and representatives from Transport Canada and the Minister of 
Transportation as part of a screening committee to review the 
applications; and

5. Communication with the Appointer as to the suitability of 
candidates interviewed.

Nominating Committee The Governance Committee’s Mandate includes responsibility 
for	reviewing	the	size	and	makeup	of	the	Board	and	filling	Board	
vacancies.

Nominating Committee 
Responsibilities, Powers 
and Operation

The Governance Committee’s annual Workplan includes reviewing 
director skill sets and identifying gaps, reviewing size and makeup 
of the Board, and recommending competencies and skill sets to 
Appointers for Board vacancies.

Compensation

Compensation Committee 
Responsibilities, Powers and 
Operation

The Governance Committee’s Mandate includes responsibility for 
reviewing and recommending for Board approval the CEO evaluation 
process and compensation, Edmonton Airports’ Compensation 
Philosophy, the Directors’ Compensation Philosophy and Director 
Compensation Policy.

Other Board Committees

Other Standing Committees The Board’s standing committees are the Audit Committee, 
Governance Committee. The Board has the ability to appoint special 
committees with Board approved mandates as required.

Board Assessments

Assessments of the Board, 
Board Committees and Individual 
Directors

Assessments of the Board, Board Committees, the Board Chair, Board 
Committee Chairs and individual Directors (both self and peer) are 
conducted regularly. Assessment information may be collected and 
compiled through questionnaires or interviews or a combination of the 
two techniques, and may be conducted with the assistance of external 
consultants. All assessment results are reviewed by the Governance 
Committee and the Board Chair. The Governance Committee is 
responsible for recommending and monitoring improvement based 
on assessment results.

At Edmonton Airports we use a balanced scorecard to organize and set performance targets to achieve five key strategic objectives, 
listed below. For our 2017-2021 corporate scorecard, we expanded the selection of corporate targets to 16 targets. This increase in focus 
areas was due to our desire to increase awareness into the different details of our businesses, and responding and tracking areas of 
interest to our stakeholders. As an organization that operates for the benefit of the local community, we define our long-term success by 
improvements in all of the areas.

Long-term Strategic Objectives 2021
IMPROVE FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
Edmonton Airports sets three long-term targets to track financial sustainability. Financial sustainability is important for stability and 
operational longevity. By 2021 we aim to have a total revenue of $250 million. We have had to adjust this target due to the economic 
volatility and its impact on our passenger forecasts now and into the future. We are able to influence our revenues through supporting 
passenger growth, offering restaurants and retail that passengers enjoy, improving the quality of our services, advertising our brand and 
offerings and growing our aerotropolis.

We aim to have an Earnings Before Interest Tax Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) margin of 50.1 per cent by 2021.  This value 
calculates our operating profitability. As we aim for higher efficiency we aim for a higher EBITDA margin. As a not-for-profit corporation we 
internally generate the equity required to reinvest in the growth of our airport.

Our new financial target included on our corporate scorecard is the Airline cost per enplanement. This measure further increases our 
alignment with airlines, a key stakeholder group. Airlines track their costs per enplanement to manage their yields and expenses. By 
corporately tracking and setting goals toward this measure, we are committing to efficiency that will benefit the airline partners and in 
return create more competitive fares for our passengers. We set a target for 2021 of $14–15, that reflects our interest in maintaining our 
relatively low costs for airline.

ENHANCE PASSENGER EXPERIENCE
Similar to previous years, we focus on the passenger experience through the use of the Airport Service Quality (ASQ) survey scores. This 
survey reviews passenger perspectives on different components of the airport experience, from parking and shopping to cleanliness 
and security. Our target going forward remains 4.40 / 5.00, as this would reflect a high value airport experience. To elevate the 
importance of the security screening, the ASQ score for security screening has also been included to reflect our work on passenger 
experience. For the satisfaction in security screening wait times we target 4.07/5.00.

IMPROVE SOCIAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND ECONOMIC SUSTAINABILITY
One of our core corporate values is ‘Dedicated to Sustainability’. We aim to continue to improve our impact on our community and track 
our performance through four targets. Environmental performance is tracked through emissions that we own and control. We target 
carbon neutral growth from 2014-2021 (2014 is our baseline year).

Our economic impact is measured through the growth of employment on our property, and the growth of total tonnes of cargo moving 
through Edmonton International Airport, as the growth in jobs and the transportation of goods has an impact on the surrounding 
community. In 2021 we aim to have a total of 68,250 tonnes of total cargo. With our growth in our cargo village as well as other onsite 
developments we aim for total Edmonton Airports employment to be approximately 2.1 per cent of capital region employment.

We measure our social impact through the participation of employees in our corporate volunteering program. For 2021 we target a 
65 per cent participation in the program, which would place EIA above the Alberta average participation rate. Volunteering helps to 
connect employees to important causes in their community.

ENHANCE AIRLINE PRODUCTIVITY
Airlines are our key customers, so we commit to work diligently to support their operations. On-time performance is a priority areas for 
our airline partners and our passengers. It also reflects on the efficiency of airport operations. Our 2021 target is to have an average on-
time departure rate of 89 per cent. Success in this area reflects on efforts, focus and expertise of internal and external stakeholders.

Also of importance to airline productivity and customer satisfaction is baggage arrival time. Due to this two new targets were set to track 
average baggage wait time from arrival to first bag, and from arrival to last bag. The targets are 20 and 30 minutes respectively. These 
targets were set collaboratively with our airline partners.

STRATEGIC REPORTING
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IMPROVE EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT, PERFORMANCE AND WELL-BEING
The success of the business, and the ability to achieve all the targets set, is dependent on the expertise and dedication of our employees. 
Corporately we measure three targets to consider the interests of the employees.

We measure employee engagement through a detailed engagement survey. Through this we gain an understanding of workplace 
satisfaction as well as other components that impact the work experience. For 2021 we target 82 per cent engagement, and we support 
teamwork, the development of innovation, increased communication and accountability to improve performance. Achieving this target 
would put Edmonton Airports in the top quartile of small organizations in the study sample.

At Edmonton Airports, safety and security come first. We set a Certificate of Recognition (COR) score target to measure our performance 
in preventative action. We set a COR target of 95 per cent to continue to commit to the improvement of our safety processes.

Additionally, we measure the success of our Health and Safety Management Systems by tracking our lost time injury rate. We target 
zero hours of lost time from workplace injuries every year. We work to enhance a culture of transparency and commitment to process 
improvement, and work together with employees to respond to safety concerns.

Our 2016 Performance
To support the achievement of our five year targets we set annual targets, and review our performance towards those targets regularly. 
The MD&A reviews our financial performance and below you find our 2016 performance results. The different developments and 
projects shown throughout the 2016 Annual Report show the different ways we have worked toward achieving our targets. This tracking 
of our trajectory, as well as the internal review of our initiatives, allows us to identify areas that require further improvements as well as 
set the new 2017-2021 targets.

ENHANCE PASSENGER EXPERIENCE
Despite the reduction in expenses throughout the business, we have been able to maintain our Airport Service Quality Score at 4.35. 
ASQ is led by Airports Council International and is administered by airports all around the world. Our score is measured every quarter. 
We are able to review and analyze the categories to understand where improvement is needed. We were strategic in our management 
of expenditures, reducing funding for some projects but protecting core services, and placing a particular focus on weaker areas of ASQ. 
We improved seating and work spaces at some heavily used gates and also considered the different impacts to the security screening 
experience.

IMPROVE SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
Every year we enhance our commitment and measure of our sustainability. In 2016 we tracked our sustainability performance according 
to environmental and social indicators. On tracking environmental performance we tracked emissions, as they are the area of interest 
international, nationally and locally. Emissions are also of particular interest in the aviation industry. In 2016 International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) set global industry targets of carbon neutral growth from 2020 onwards. We realize the benefit of aligning to 
these interests, and already aim for carbon neutral growth from 2014 onwards. We continue to learn about the intricacies and target 
impactors, and our calculations suggest in 2014 our owned and controlled emissions were approximately 47,000 tCO2e. In 2016 we 
managed to achieve our target and even reduced emissions to 45,075 tCO2e. We worked to increase energy efficiency in 2016, and our 
emissions were also impacted by warmer than average temperatures.  

We are tracking our social impact by the participation of employees in our volunteering program. We increased our participation in 
the program to 52.4 per cent of Edmonton Airports employees. We improved our tracking of volunteering participation, and also 
communicated our positive impacts externally.

ENHANCE AIRLINE PRODUCTIVITY
One of the impactful measures of airline productive is the on-time performance. In 2016 we managed an average on-time departure 
rate of 89.8 per cent. This metric impacts airline efficiency, as delays can increase costs in fuel and employee overtime. 89 per cent on-
time departure rate represents the top performance in North America for airports with regular winter operations. We have the highest 
on-time performance rate for Air Canada and WestJet in comparison to other Canadian airports.

IMPROVE EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT, PERFORMANCE AND WELL-BEING
Our employees are the foundation of our business. An engaged workforce is critical in driving organizational success. We remained 
focused on making improvements to the employee experience; however, in 2016 our score was 69 per cent. This was below our target 
of 76 per cent. We continue to analyze the scores to understand the concerns that have impacted their scores. We will focus our efforts 
on improving the key engagement drivers: innovation, professional growth and teamwork.   

Ultimately, we know that none of our targets would be achievable without the expertise, engagement and commitment of our 
employees, working in a safe and secure environment. Through the engagement survey we have been able to review employee 
priorities and influencers and direct our responses where needed.

We are also committed to the occupational health and safety of our employees. Our Certificate of Recognition (COR) audit reflects our safety 
culture and we have continued to increase employee involvement through increased training, information sessions and email updates. 
Our 2016 score was 94.5 per cent. Our incident rates suggest that our messaging is being heard, and is also effective in reducing negative 
impacts to staff and property. Our incidents fell from 42 in 2015 to 35 in 2016. Incidents include near misses, property damage and minor 
injuries. This reflects our ongoing commitment to improving our safety and security systems, supervision and performance. Our strategic 
business units also track the safety performance of our contractors, and our Occupational Health and Safety Committee tracks and prepares 
incidents rates from all our different safety management programs.

M
M

D&
A



5756

ADVISORIES 
The following Management Discussion and Analysis of Financial Results (MD&A) should be read in conjunction with 
the Financial Statements and note disclosures for the year ended December 31, 2016. The Financial Statements have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). All amounts in the following 
MD&A are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated. References to Edmonton Airports mean Edmonton Regional 
Airports Authority. 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 
The disclosure found under the heading “Outlook” in this MD&A may contain forward-looking information that 
constitutes a financial outlook. Our actual results, performance or achievements could differ materially from those 
expressed in, or implied by, this forward-looking information. 

Please refer to the Outlook section of this MD&A for further information on our forward-looking information 
including assumptions and estimates used in its development. 

NON-GAAP AND ADDITIONAL GAAP MEASURES
Certain measures in this MD&A do not have any standardized meaning as prescribed by generally accepted 
accounting principles (GAAP), therefore, are considered non-GAAP measures. These measures are provided to 
enhance the reader’s overall understanding of our financial performance or financial condition. They are included 
to provide readers with an alternative method for assessing our operating results in a manner that is focused on the 
performance of our ongoing operations and to provide a more consistent basis for the comparison between periods. 
Therefore, they may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other entities.

CORPORATE PROFILE
In 2016, Edmonton Regional Airports Authority (Edmonton Airports,“EA”) operated Edmonton International Airport 
(“EIA”) and Villeneuve Airport (“VA”).

Our mandate, as defined in the Regional Airport Authorities Act (Alberta), is to manage these airports to ensure 
they are safe, secure and efficient. As well, we are expected to foster economic and community development by 
improving airline and transportation service and expanding the aviation industry. As a no-share, not-for-profit entity, 
the net earnings we earn are re-invested in the airports under our control so we can fulfill this mandate.

2016 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS RECENT EVENTS

Certain events transpired in 2016 that impacted Edmonton Airports’ operations or financial results or may impact 
future results. 

• Weak energy prices and reduced oil industry investments resulted in a 5.7 per cent decline in overall passenger 
traffic

• Trans-Atlantic air service grew with increased capacity from KLM and Icelandair combined with the launch of 
London-Gatwick service from WestJet

• NewLeaf became the first ultra-low-cost carrier to offer service from Edmonton with service to Abbotsford, 
Kelowna, Winnipeg and Hamilton

• Investments in EIA’s Aerotropolis Development continued to grow with Horseracing Alberta and Century Casinos 
announcing EIA as the site for a mile-long race track and casino development

• Rosenau Transport LTD. took possession of its 211,000 square-foot logistics facility providing access within 24 
hours to any destination in Western Canada

• Air China Cargo marked its one year anniversary of direct freighter service from Shanghai Pudong Airport to EIA 
and remains Canada’s only scheduled freighter service from mainland China

• Edmonton icon Wayne Gretzky opened the first ever airport location of No.99 Gretzky’s Wine and Whisky 
restaurant featuring his own signature brand of whisky

• Aurora Cannabis began groundworks of the “Aurora Sky” facility, an 800,000-square-foot facility at EIA, where, 
subject to certain conditions, the company will lease 30 acres from EA.

• HNZ Topflight created helicopter training opportunities by opening a new facility at EIA featuring a state-of-the-art 
helicopter flight simulation training device. The device is the first of its kind in North America where pilots will 
receive credit for in-aircraft hours as part of an approved training program.

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
For 2016, Edmonton Airports had four financial targets used to monitor the organization’s financial sustainability. 
The organization sets goals related to total revenue, overall passenger volumes, EBITDA margin and operating 
expenses per enplaned passenger. In 2016, the organization achieved two of these targets. The other two fell short of 
expectations due to a sharp decrease in energy prices early in the year. This resulted in passenger volumes declining, 
which has a direct impact on overall revenues. In response to the decrease in passengers, management took action 
to reduce expenditures and was able to achieve the targeted EBITDA margin, finishing the year at 48.6 per cent. 
The organization also exceeded target expectations in terms of operating expense per enplaned passenger, ending 
the year at $17.30 against a target expectation of $18.05. These savings allowed the organization to continue with 
investments in key strategic priorities including capital initiatives.

The following tables highlight Edmonton Airports’ performance on our key financial sustainability indicators in 
2016:

MEASURE DECEMBER 31, 2016 RESULT DECEMBER 31, 2015 RESULT
Revenue $206.1 million $210.4 million
EBITDA Margin 48.6% 49.7%
Passengers 7.524 million 7.981 million
Operating Expense/E-Pax $17.30 $17.20
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PASSENGERS:
TOTAL PASSENGERS (THOUSANDS)
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Passenger volumes are the key driver of most revenue items at EIA. Airport Improvement Fee, car parking, terminal 
concessions and several passenger related aeronautical fees are all directly correlated to passenger volumes. 
As noted, 2016 was a challenging year for the Alberta economy, with lower energy prices leading to decreased 
investment in major oil and gas projects. This resulted in a reduction in employment across the province as well as a 
decline in consumer confidence, both of which negatively impacted passenger volumes at EIA. Our 2016 passenger 
target was set in the fall of 2015 before oil prices collapsed to below $30 per barrel. As energy prices fell, companies 
curtailed their spending, and consumer confidence fell. Forward booking for airlines declined, and they responded 
by pulling capacity from the Alberta market. The May wildfires in Fort McMurray drove a short-term increase in 
passenger activity as people were evacuated from the community to points across Canada. 

However, these additional passenger movements did not offset the impacts of the weaker Alberta economy, and 
total passenger volumes declined by 5.7 per cent over 2015. As such, total passenger volumes fell about 475,000 
short of our 2016 target of 8 million passengers. While numbers did fall short of target, there were also positive 
developments in air service at EIA in 2016. Ultra-low-cost carrier NewLeaf began operations, which resulted in 
additional passenger movements stimulated by their low fares. On the international front, Trans-Atlantic passenger 
volumes grew as KLM and Icelandair added capacity and WestJet launched service to London-Gatwick.

EIA also saw continued success in its regional hub strategy.  Connecting passenger traffic from key regional markets 
like Grande Prairie, Saskatoon, Regina and Fort McMurray continued to support connecting traffic onto international 
routes and long-haul domestic services.  This traffic is critical in building sufficient volumes to support further growth 
in international services.

REVENUES (THOUSANDS)
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REVENUES:
Total revenues fell by approximately $4.3 million in 2016, a 2.1 per cent decrease over 2015. However, on a per 
enplaned passenger basis, total airport revenues reached a new record level at $54.79, 3.9 per cent above 2015 
levels. This revenue is driven by passengers utilizing more services and products at EIA.

Decreases in year-over-year revenues were seen in the areas of airside and general terminal fees as a result of a 
decrease in aircraft movements, airport improvement fees resulting from fewer passengers, and parking and car 
rental revenues, again driven by a decrease in passengers. These areas were partially offset by increased revenue 
from real estate leases and a small gain in terminal concessions revenue.
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EBITDA MARGIN:
EBITDA
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EBITDA margin, also sometimes known as the efficiency margin, indicates how much operating profit the 
organization earns for each dollar in revenue generated. Edmonton Airports considers this an important performance 
measure as it helps ensure that the organization is managing its facilities in a cost-effective manner and that 
sufficient cash flow is being generated to execute on strategic priorities.

In 2016, lower than projected revenues led Edmonton Airports’ management team to undertake an extensive review 
of organizational expenses to identify areas for efficiencies while protecting funding for key strategic initiatives, 
and ensure the organization remained in a position to capitalize on future growth opportunities. This resulted in 
operating expenses increasing by only $98,000 over 2015 and represented savings of nearly $8 million over the 
2016 business plan. As a result of these measures, the EBITDA margin for 2016 came in at 48.6 per cent, slightly 
ahead of the 2016 target of 48.5 per cent. By achieving this target, the organization is able to continue to generate 
free cash flow to invest in key strategic initiatives and continue to attract investments in commercial real estate, 
which support future revenue growth and drive economic development for the region.

EXPENSES PER ENPLANED PASSENGER:
As passenger volumes play a key role in driving airport revenues, it is important that the organization manage its 
operating expenses to account for changes in passenger volumes. With approximately 80 per cent of airport costs 
being of fixed nature, achieving this goal requires prudent management. Through the activities and initiatives noted 
earlier, Edmonton Airports was able to exceed performance on the 2015 target, which called for operating expenses 
of $18.05 per enplaned passenger. Actual results came in at $17.30 per enplaned passenger, representing a $0.10 
increase over 2015 results. 

OPERATING EXPENSES PER ENPLANED PASSENGER
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2016

$17.20 $17.30

SUMMARY:
Management was able to achieve these expense reductions without sacrificing other strategic objectives. Five out 
of seven non-financial corporate targets reached at least target-level achievement in 2016, and only one fell below 
threshold-level achievement. Also noteworthy is despite a $14.1 million revenue variance to budget, year-end net 
income was less than $3 million below original budget expectations.

Edmonton Airports achieved many significant wins in 2016 in the face of a difficult economic climate. The 
organization moved forward on its key strategies and added to its international air service options, both for 
passengers and cargo, and continued to take a leadership role in driving the region’s economic prosperity. Thanks to 
the hard work and dedication of the entire management and employee group, the organization also implemented 
substantial process improvements and efficiency gains that will help ensure the organization’s success and 
competitiveness for years to come.

2016 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
As our primary customers, passengers are the strongest influencers of airport success. The more passenger demand 
we have, the more opportunity we have to deliver our vision of more flights to more places. With this in mind, and 
the continued impact of the depressed economy in 2016, Edmonton Airports continued to focus on attracting and 
retaining passengers, while actively managing discretionary expenditures.

NET OPERATING RESULTS

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Change 

%
Revenue 206,099 210,422 (4,323) (2.1%)
Expenses 105,937 105,839 98 0.1%
EBITDA* 100,162 104,583 (4,421) (4.2%)
EBITDA margin % 48.6% 49.7% (1.1%) (2.2%)
Depreciation and amortization 62,963 65,327 (2,364) (3.6%)
Interest 45,160 44,869 291 0.6%
Gain on foreign exchange (52) (221) 169 (76.5%)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20 201 (181) (90.0%)
Net loss (7,929) (5,593) (2,336) 41.8%

*EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization. Edmonton Airports’ earnings are exempt 
from federal and provincial income tax.

In 2016, we experienced a net loss of $7.9 million, which was an increase of 41.8 per cent over the prior year’s 
net loss. The increased net loss was primarily a result of decreased revenue by $4.3 million due to a decrease in 
passenger traffic. 

The table above illustrates that revenue generated by Edmonton Airports was sufficient to cover operating and 
interest expense which are the cash expenses of operations. Consistent with prior years, the negative earnings is the 
result of expected increased interest and amortization expenses related to the major infrastructure spend in 2012.

REVENUE

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Variance 

$
Variance 

%
Airport improvement fee  89,383  91,387  (2,004) (2.2%)
Parking and concessions  56,223  58,017  (1,794) (3.1%)
Airside and general terminal  42,097  45,674  (3,577) (7.8%)
Police and security  12,563  10,135  2,428 24.0%
Real estate leases  5,474  5,057  417 8.2%
Other revenue  359  152  207 136.2%

 206,099  210,422  (4,323) (2.1%)

Revenue decreased year-over-year to $206.1 million, which was a decrease of 2.1 per cent compared to the prior 
year. This was driven by a decrease in passenger traffic, which resulted in decreases in all passenger driven revenue 
items as stated above.
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AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT FEE
AIF is a major source of Edmonton Airports’ revenue base, approximating 43.4 per cent ($89.4 million) of all 
revenues in 2016. AIF is collected by the airlines on behalf of Edmonton Airports from all passengers originating 
from Edmonton International Airport (not including connecting and non-revenue passengers) for the purpose 
of funding capital programs for airport infrastructure and the related financing costs, governed by the Airport 
Improvement Fee Memorandum Agreement. During 2016, AIF revenue showed a decrease of $2.0 million (2.2 per 
cent) over 2015. The decrease was the result of a decline in terminal enplaned passenger volume compared to prior 
year (3.1 per cent) and a lower share of connections through the airport compared to the prior year.

AERONAUTICAL REVENUE
Airside and general terminal revenue (AGT) representing aircraft landing fees, terminal fees, US pre-clearance fees, 
user fees, bridge fees and fees for common-use terminal equipment, is primarily driven by the number of aircraft 
movements as well as the size of the aircraft. AGT revenue was $42.1 million in 2016, which is a decrease of $3.6 
million (7.8 per cent) compared to the prior year, primarily due to reduced aircraft activity resulting in a reduction in 
movements and capacity year over year. This reduced activity was partially offset by increased aviation traffic during 
May and June of 2016 due to the Fort McMurray wildfires. General aviation operations continue to be impacted by 
the Alberta energy industry, particularly in the business aviation sector, which has resulted in reduced aircraft activity. 
The reduced activity is partly offset by a 3 per cent increase in landing fees effective January 1, 2016.

Police and security revenues, which are based on a cost-recovery methodology, have shown an increase of $2.4 
million (24 per cent) over the prior year primarily due to an increase in policing and security labour costs and costs 
related to non-passenger vehicle screening, which was an increased requirement imposed by Transport Canada for 
all Canadian Airports.

NON-AERONAUTICAL REVENUE 
Edmonton Airports also earns revenue from non-aeronautical commercial operations, such as parking, concessions, 
ground transportation and real estate. Revenues from concessions and parking totaled $56.2 million in 2016, $1.8 
million (3.1 per cent) lower than 2015. Decline in parking revenue is primarily due to declining passenger volumes 
impacting Easy Parkade and Value Park products. General aviation lots also showed decreased revenues consistent 
with reductions in resource worker traffic. 

During 2016, real estate revenues were $5.5 million, which was 8.3 per cent higher than 2015. This increase is 
driven primarily by new leases taking effect in 2016.

OPERATING EXPENSES

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Change 

%
Salaries and employee benefits  31,071  30,928  143 0.5%
Services, maintenance, supplies and administration  31,248  32,116  (868) (2.7%)
Canada lease rent  17,504  17,971 (467) (2.6%)
Utilities, insurance and property taxes  11,391  11,554 (163) (1.4%)
Police and security  10,183  8,627 1,556 18.0%
Airport improvement collection costs  4,540  4,643 (103) (2.2%)

 105,937  105,839 98 0.1%

Total 2016, operating expenses increased slightly by 0.1 per cent to $105.9 million as compared to $105.8 million 
in 2015. The slight increase in expenses is mainly due to increased cost in police and security, and an increase 
in investment related to strategic growth initiatives. This was offset by reductions of about $5 million in service, 
maintenance, and supplies related expenses as a result of management’s continued focus in reducing discretionary 
expenditures by holding less critical expenditures in alignment with the reduced passenger growth. 

SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Change 

%
Salaries and benefits  28,599  29,430  (831) (2.8%)
Defined benefit pension plan 3,384  2,918 466 16.0%
Long-term benefit plan 78  29 49 169.0%
Defined contribution plan 371  351 20 5.7%

32,432  32,728 (296)  - 
Capitalized salaries  (1,361)  (1,800) 439 (24.4%)

31,071  30,928 143 0.5%

Throughout 2016, salaries and employee benefits increased by 0.5 per cent to $31.1 million as compared to $30.9 
million in 2015. The change was driven by an increase in defined benefit pension plan costs ($0.5 million) and a 
decrease in capitalized salaries ($0.4 million), offset by a decrease in salaries and benefits ($0.8 million). 

Salaries and employee benefits decreased compared to prior year by 2.8 per cent ($0.8 million) due to active 
management of discretionary staff hours and vacancies. 

Defined benefit pension plan expense (current service cost) is the increase in the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current period. This cost is driven by the rate used to 
discount the benefit obligation and is based on high quality fixed income investments with cash flows that match 
expected payments from the plan. Compared to 2015, current service cost was higher due to a lower discount rate 
used to calculate 2016 current service cost.

SERVICE, MAINTENANCE, SUPPLIES AND ADMINISTRATION

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Change 

%
Services  7,359  8,501  (1,142) (13.4%)
Maintenance and supplies 9,567  10,282 (715) (7.0%)
Administration 14,147  13,197 950 7.2%

31,073  31,980 (907) (2.8%)
Bad debt expense 175  136 39 28.7%

31,248  32,116 (868) (2.7%)

Services, maintenance, supplies and administration expense decreased 2.7 per cent to $31.2 million as compared to 
$32.1 million in 2015. 

Services costs include the operational costs of operating our parking facilities and ground transportation services, 
contracted maintenance services and contracted information technology (IT) services. The decrease was driven 
by decreased labour required to support parking operations due to declining growth and decreased contracted 
maintenance costs. 

Maintenance and supplies include the costs to maintain Edmonton Airports’ facilities, equipment, aprons and 
runways. This includes janitorial costs, lighting replacement costs, fleet equipment and repair and consumables 
including fuel, chemicals and equipment parts. The reduction compared to the prior year is driven by lower runway 
maintenance costs, fuel and equipment repair expenditures, due to favorable weather conditions and active 
management of expenditures.

Administration costs include the costs of communication, marketing, and air service development investments, 
management consulting, travel and training, credit card service fees, legal expenses, director’s fees and stationery 
supplies. The increase was driven primarily by increased costs related to strategic growth initiatives.

CANADA LEASE RENT
Canada lease rent expense is based on a percentage, on a progressive scale, of “Airport Revenues” at Edmonton 
Airports, as defined in the Ground Lease. “Airport Revenues” for 2016 were $207.0 million (2015 - $210.4 million), 
which resulted in a 2.6 per cent decrease in rent expense of $17.5 million in comparison to $18.0 million in 2015.

Based on “Airport Revenues” (in thousands)
Rate 

%
Rent Payable 

$
On the first $5 million 0% 0
On the next $5 million 1% 50
On the next $15 million 5% 750
On the next $75 million 8% 6,000
On the next $150 million 10% 10,704
On any amount over $250 million* 12% 0
  17,504

* Nil as a result of year-to-date revenues below $250 million. 

UTILITIES, INSURANCE AND PROPERTY TAXES
Utilities, insurance and property tax expenses decreased 1.4 per cent to $11.4 million as compared to $11.6 million 
in 2015. This decrease is primarily related to lower electricity and natural gas expenses due to lower rates and lower 
consumption. Also contributing to the decrease is a reduction in property taxes as a result of a lower tax assessment 
negotiated by Edmonton Airports. 
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POLICE AND SECURITY 
During 2016, police and security expenses increased by 18.0 per cent to $10.2 million compared to $8.6 million 
in 2015. This increase is a result of increased policing and security contract labor costs as well as increased federally 
mandated non-passenger vehicle screening. Increases in police and security costs are then recovered through the 
police and security fee charged on a per-passenger basis to airlines at Edmonton Airports. 

AIF IMPROVEMENT FEE COLLECTION COSTS
AIF collection costs for 2016 decreased 2.2 per cent to $4.5 million as compared to $4.6 million in 2015. This has 
been driven by the 2.2 per cent decrease in AIF revenue due to a decline in enplaned passenger volume compared 
to prior year.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Edmonton Airports experienced a net remeasurement loss on post-employment benefits of $3.06 million in 2016 
as compared to a $0.3 million gain in 2015. These remeasurement adjustments are the result of the change, year-
over-year, in actuarial assumptions used by Edmonton Airports’ actuarial expert to estimate the pension obligation 
at the end of each period. The loss in 2016 was the net result of a $3.6 million loss from the change in financial 
assumptions, a $0.3 million experience loss and $0.6 million return on plan assets. The above was impacted most 
significantly by the decrease in the discount rate to 3.7 per cent from 3.8 per cent in 2015 and the decrease in the 
commuted value basis discount rate to 1.2 per cent from 1.6 per cent in 2015.

OTHER EXPENSES

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Change 

%
Depreciation and amortization  62,963  65,327 (2,364) (3.6%)
Interest  44,869  44,499 370 0.83%
Net interest cost and expected return on plan assets  291  370 (79) (21%)
Gain on foreign exchange  (52)  (221) 169 (76%)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20  201 (181) (90.0%)

108,091  110,176 (2,085) (1.9%)

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
Depreciation and amortization expense decreased compared to the prior year due to capital project deferrals as well 
as the timing of capital projects becoming available for use in 2016. 

NET INTEREST EXPENSE

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Change 

%
Series A Bond interest  15,352  15,792  (440) (2.8%)
Series C Bond interest  30,437  30,925  (488) (1.6%)
Interest portion of current service cost for post-employment benefits 291  370 (79) (21%)
Other interest and financing costs 124  120 4 3.3%
Interest income and other (704)  (777) 73 (9.4%)

 45,500  46,430 (930) 0.0%
Capitalized interest  (340)  (1,561) 1,221 (78%)

 45,160  44,869 291 0.65%

Edmonton Airports’ interest costs represent interest on the outstanding balances of the revenue bond (Series A 
Bond) issued in October 2000 and the fixed rate debentures (Series C Bond) issued by the Alberta Capital Finance 
Authority (ACFA). The interest costs are lower than the prior year. The decrease in both Series A Bond interest and 
Series C bond interest is due to reductions in loan principal as a result of repayments of the existing balance.

CAPITAL PROJECTS 
Edmonton Airports’ capital projects are identified by the Airport and are broken into three main categories as follows:

1. COMMERCIAL REAL ESTATE 
Projects in this category include those that build revenue capacity for Edmonton Airports and are funded from 
operating earnings and cash flow that becomes available. $17.0 million was spent on all projects to December 31, 
2016.

During 2016, the highway commercial development project continued as Edmonton Airports continues to prepare 
land for commercial development, including activities to support the completion of office development, big box 
retail, hotel/restaurant campus, and land leased to Ivanhoé-Cambridge for the retail outlet destination.

Additionally, as part of the highway commercial project Edmonton Airports is continuing to improve the existing 
primary access point (Airport Road) for entering and exiting the airport. In addition work has continued on 
Airport Perimeter Road, a primary access point for many land tenants. These improvements were required for the 
development of the highway commercial and airport support lands to south of the airport.

2. GROWTH
Projects in this category include those that expand capacity, create new services and/or improve the passenger 
experience. This includes terminal leasehold improvements for new concessions, expanded apron and taxiway to 
serve airside developments, and parking lot expansions and projects related to enhancing the passenger experience. 
$22.6 million was spent on growth projects to December 31, 2016.

The most significant projects in this category include the following:
• New Airside Operations Facility. The airside operations maintenance centre moved to a larger, more efficient 

building to accommodate space to store vehicles and maintenance equipment. A recently vacated facility on 
airport grounds provided the opportunity for its relocation and with some modifications, the building met 
operational requirements. Costs totaled $12.1 million in 2016.

• Storm system treatment and storage capacity upgrades. This project improved the wetland treatment system 
and expanded the storage pond to meet the Alberta Environment standards. Edmonton Airports is in the process 
of completing a new storage pond, rehabilitating ditches and expanding the wetlands treatment system. Costs 
totaled $3.8 million in 2016.

• Non-passenger vehicle screening project. CATSA is implementing non-passenger vehicle screening requirements 
for personnel accessing the critical restricted area (commercial apron) via the airside service roads. Edmonton 
Airports is responsible for the construction of vehicle screening facilities at both of the commercial apron access 
points. Costs totaled $2.2 million in 2016.

• Digital Advertising Displays.  New digital advertising displays were installed throughout the airport to increase 
non-aeronautical revenue and provide a better passenger experience. Costs totaled $1.2 million in 2016.

• Capacity Upgrade in South Baggage Room. Provides additional baggage handling facilities as passenger 
numbers increase and increased efficiency in the bag room operations. Costs totaled $0.8 million in 2016.
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3. MAINTENANCE
Projects in this category include the maintenance of existing airport facilities and infrastructure. This includes system 
lifecycle replacements, paving programs, fleet replacement and capital restoration. $17.1 million was spent on all 
projects to December 31, 2016.

In line with the objective of improving airport infrastructure, the most significant projects in this category include the 
following:
• Runway, Taxiway Program. During 2016, Edmonton Airports repaired emergent areas of taxiways and runways. 

A major part of the project scope was the reconstruction of Runway 02-20. This project was undertaken to 
rehabilitate existing airside pavements, to increase life expectancy of critical areas of the airfield, and to improve 
airport infrastructure. Costs totaled $5.2 million in 2016. 

• ATB North P1 & P2 Electrical Lifecycle Replacement. Many components of the electrical distribution in Electrical 
Room B1-098, in the North Terminal, are past their lifecycle. Edmonton Airports is currently replacing the critical 
electrical equipment to mitigate the operational risk of equipment failing. Costs totaled $1.7 million in 2016. 

• Parkade rehabilitation. The project was initiated in 2016 to remediate and correct structural and drainage issues in 
the ATB parkade. Costs totaled $1.1 million in 2016.

• Maintenance Systems Replacement: DAXeam. Edmonton Airports implemented a maintenance management 
process to increase efficiencies and integrate and improve core business processes, such as asset maintenance, 
inventory management and procurement. Costs totaled $1.0 million in 2016.

• 2016 fleet replacements. Various vehicles within the operations fleet pool were replaced due to reaching their 
expected useful life. Costs totaled $0.8 million in 2016.

• Campus Area Network Replacement. The campus area network carries all administrative and operational network 
traffic for Edmonton Airports, thus critical network improvements are required to keep the equipment up to date 
and increase performance in order to be able to access new technology. Costs totaled $0.8 million in 2016.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Edmonton Airports is an authority without share capital and, accordingly, is funded through operating revenues, 
AIF revenues, reserve funds, its bank credit facility and financing from the Alberta Capital Finance Authority (ACFA). 
Maintaining a strong financial position is imperative to Edmonton Airports’ success as it allows the reinvestment of 
cash flows in supporting our strategic objectives. 

We completed 2016 with a cash and equivalents balance of $41.0 million, compared to $39.1 million at December 
31, 2015. The increase in our cash position was a result of positive cash flow from operations of $48.9 million, offset 
by $44.9 million spent on capital expenditures and $2.1 million in financing outflows. Our current ratio, defined as 
current assets over current liabilities, was 1.0 at December 31, 2016 compared to 1.1 December 31, 2015.

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$
Change 

$
Cash flows from operating activities 48,867 70,221 (21,354)
Cash flows used in investing activities (44,931) (45,932) 1,001
Cash flows (used in) from financing activities (2,092) (20,726) 18,634

1,844 3,563 (1,719)
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents 52 221 (169)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,896 3,784 (1,888)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 39,073 35,289 3,784
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 40,969 39,073 1,896

OPERATING CASH FLOWS
Edmonton Airports defines cash flows from operating activities as those that are primarily derived from our 
principal revenue producing activities and generally result from transactions and other events that enter into the 
determination of profit or loss. Therefore, this includes cash flows from AIF revenue and cash outflows for interest 
expense. We consider the cash flows arising from operating activities as a key indicator of the extent to which 
Edmonton Airports has generated sufficient cash flows to repay loans, maintain operating capability and make new 
investments. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, our cash flows from operating activities decreased 30.4 per cent to $48.9 
million compared to $70.2 million in the prior year. This year-over-year decrease was mainly the result of a negative 
change in working capital, decreased EBITDA, and decreased deferred revenue. Cash inflows from operating activities 
were used to invest in capital projects and repay long-term debt. 

INVESTING CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2016, cash flows used in investing activities totaled $44.9 million compared to 
$45.9 million in the prior year. The minor year-over-year decrease is mainly due to a decrease in interest capitalized 
to property, plant and equipment assets.

FINANCING CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2016, cash flows used in financing activities totaled $2.1 million compared to 
inflow of $20.7 million in the prior year. This was the result of planned borrowings to align with our capital spending 
objectives.
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DEBT COVENANTS 

REVENUE BOND
Pursuant to the terms of Edmonton Airports’ revenue bond, we are required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve 
Fund equal to one-half of our annual debt service costs and an Operating and Maintenance Contingency Fund equal 
to one quarter of our annual operation and maintenance expenses. At December 31, 2016, restricted deposits of 
$33,539 (2015 - $33,238) exist as a requirement of the Debt Service Reserve Fund. The Operating and Maintenance 
Contingency Fund is satisfied by a $40 million term revolving loan of which $20,830 (2015 - $20,460 ) has been set 
aside for the Fund. 

We are required to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio on a rolling twelve month basis of 1.00:1 and a Gross 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.25:1. At December 31, 2016, ratios were 1.48:1 and 2.43:1, 
respectively. 

ACFA FINANCING 
Pursuant to the terms of Edmonton Airports’ credit facility with ACFA, we must maintain an Interest Coverage Ratio 
(ICR) of not less than 1.25:1 and net cash flows greater than zero at the end of any fiscal quarter on a rolling four 
fiscal quarter basis. At December 31, 2016 the ICR was 1.85:1 and cash flows were greater than zero on a rolling four 
fiscal quarter basis. 

CAPITAL FINANCING
The following is a summary of the most recent ratings issued for Edmonton Airports from all three rating agencies. 
This reflects Edmonton Airports’ ability to maintain a strong business risk profile through another year of declining 
passengers and ongoing global economic uncertainty.

Rating Agency Date 2016 Rating 2015 Rating
S & P June 2016 A+ Stable A+ Stable*
Moody’s June 2016 A1 Stable A1 Stable
DBRS February 2016 A (High) A (High)

* this rating was increased in early 2015

OUTLOOK
As oil prices dipped below $30 per barrel to start off 2016, investment in Canada’s oil and gas sector fell by as much 
as 33 per cent compared to 2015 levels. This led to further layoffs across the industry and significantly impacted 
Alberta’s economy. While the City of Edmonton was somewhat sheltered from the full brunt of the impact due to 
the continuation of approximately $200 billion in investments around Edmonton’s downtown arena district, areas 
around the city that provide support services for the oil and gas sector continued to feel the economic pains of the 
downturn. Despite these challenges, Edmonton Airports was still able to achieve many significant wins in 2016. 
The airport continued to attract commercial investments in the areas of new logistics and warehousing facilities, 
entertainment developments and light industrial facilities. On the air service front, growth continued on Trans-
Atlantic routes with increased capacity to Amsterdam and Reykjavik and new, seasonal, service from WestJet to 
London-Gatwick. Terminal domestic passenger traffic grew by 2 per cent over 2015 driven by the launch of service 
from Ultra Low Cost Carrier, NewLeaf, and an increase in resource sector traffic through the main terminal building. 
Overall passenger traffic declined by 5.7 per cent as leisure traffic to US and sun destinations was impacted by 
weakened consumer confidence and a soft Canadian dollar.

The Alberta economy looks to be heading into a period of recovery in 2017. Investment in Canada’s oil and gas 
industry is expected to grow by 3 per cent in 2017 according to forecasts from the Canadian Association of Petroleum 
Producers (CAPP). However, growth in capital spending is anticipated to come entirely from the conventional 
sector where spending is expected to increase by 20 per cent following a 35 per cent decrease in 2016. Much of 
this growth in spending is offset by an anticipated 19 per cent decrease in oilsands related investments in 2017, 
following a 30 per cent decrease in 2016. Investments in oil sands are limited to the completion of ongoing projects 
and maintenance capital, and are expected to total around $13 billion in 2017. While a fairly direct link between 
oilsands investments and passenger volumes at EIA has been established, the link to the conventional sector is less 
clear. Drilling takes place over a broader geographic area and there is less opportunity for companies to fly workers 
into consolidated worksites. CAPP’s long term forecast still remains well below their 2015 outlook but does show a 
moderate pace of growth in oilsands production through 2030. Recent pipeline approvals will help ensure that this 
growth forecast is met as existing capacity to move product is nearly all allocated.

The outlook for energy prices remains slow, and moderate growth is expected over the next several years. Prices 
have now appeared to stabilize in the low $50/barrel range, as OPEC production cuts have been partially offset by 
increased North American production. Both Energy Information Agency’s forecast and the futures market anticipate 
modest growth in prices over the course of the year, but average prices are likely to remain below $60/barrel.

Global economic growth is expected to gain moderate momentum in 2016 with the International Monetary Fund 
(IMF) projecting that the global economy will grow by 3.4 per cent in 2017, up from an estimated growth rate of 3.1 
per cent in 2016. Advanced economies are forecast to grow at a rate of 1.9 per cent in 2017 and by 2.0 per cent in 
2018 with the Canadian economy expected to mirror these growth expectations. This is an accelerated rate of growth 
from the past two years where the Canadian economy grew only by 0.9 per cent in 2015 and by an estimated rate 
of 1.3 per cent in 2016. Higher commodity prices are the main driver behind the forecasted increase in Canadian 
growth. A weaker Canadian dollar may also help boost Canadian exports. The Bank of Canada has provided signals 
that they are willing to let the dollar depreciate further and may reduce interest rates to help stimulate economic 
growth. While a weaker dollar supports Canadian exports, it is a negative for Edmonton Airports’ transborder 
passenger market, as the bulk of traffic is outbound. However, this scenario presents an opportunity to grow 
Edmonton’s inbound tourist market as Canada becomes relatively cheaper for foreign tourists to visit.

The long-term outlook for global aviation remains quite favorable with Boeing forecasting revenue passenger 
kilometres to grow, on average, by 4.8 per cent per annum over the next 20 years and air cargo volumes to grow at 
an average annual rate of 4.2 per cent. The largest growth markets for global aviation are in the Asia-Pacific market, 
China and developing economies. EIA’s continued growth in non-stop services to key international markets like 
Amsterdam, London and Reykjavik provide Edmonton with improved connectivity to Asia, Africa and the Middle East 
and help support our international growth strategies.

Edmonton Airports has incorporated the assumptions of both moderate economic growth and energy price increases 
into its corporate planning documents. Our 2017 Business Plan and 2017-2021 Strategic Plan reflect more modest 
growth projections than anticipated in prior years and are built with flexibility to respond to any deviation in these 
assumptions, positive or negative. A summary of key financial outcomes from our five-year plan is included below.

(in thousands) 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Passengers 7,540.8 7,857.8 8,194.6 8,535.4 8,836.3
Revenue 209,936 220,734 231,659 241,497 251,114
EBITDA margin 48.7% 48.7% 49.1% 50.1% 50.1%
Net Earnings/(loss) ($4,840) ($128) $9,828 $18,366 $25,194 
Capital expenditures 54,051 33,300 36,950 48,000 50,293
Debt/Enplaned Passenger $252 $236 $218 $201 $186
Debt Service Coverage Ratio 1.43 1.44 1.47 1.56 1.62
Interest Coverage Ratio 1.89 2.09 2.28 2.59 2.83

ACCOUNTABILITY
Edmonton Airports’ public accountability requirements with respect to planning, reporting, conduct and operational 
effectiveness are documented in the Airport ground lease and associated agreements with the Government of 
Canada and under the relevant provincial legislation, including the Regional Airports Authorities Act (Alberta). These 
agreements and incorporating legislation set out specific requirements for matters such as business ethics, conflict 
of interest, audit, periodic performance reviews and disclosure. In addition to information included in the 2016 
Management Discussion and Analysis above, the following items require disclosure: 

BUSINESS AND STRATEGIC PLANS 
The Executive Summary of Edmonton Airports 2016 Business Plan and 2016 – 2020 Strategic Plan are available at 
flyeia.com.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST
In accordance with the Airport ground lease and the Regional Airport Authorities Act (Alberta), Edmonton Airports 
confirms it has an appropriate Conflict of Interest Policy and is in compliance with that policy. 

Edmonton Airports confirms its compliance, in all material respects, with the public accountability requirements 
documented in the Airport ground lease as well as with provincial legislation, including the Regional Airports 
Authorities Act (Alberta).



70

PUBLIC COMPETITIVE TENDERING
Edmonton Airports, in accordance with the Airport ground lease with the Government of Canada, is required to 
report on all contracts in excess of $132,671 ($75,000 in 1992 dollars) that were entered into during the year and 
were not awarded on the basis of a public competitive tendering process. Such reporting shall identify the parties, 
contract amount and nature and circumstances of the contract, and the reasons for not awarding the contract on the 
basis of a public competitive tendering process. We entered into eight contracts in excess of $132,671 ($75,000 in 
1992 dollars) that, for the reasons outlined in the corresponding table, were not awarded on the basis of a public 
competitive tendering process.

2016 SOLE SOURCE CONTRACTS OVER $132,671
(based on 2016 Edmonton CPI Index)

Supplier Project Value Code

Fortis Alberta
Relocation of Fortis infrastructure for road 
improvements $420,000 Single source provider

Ultra Electronics
Software assurance program for flight 
information system $370,000 Proprietary service provider

Airport 
Technologies Inc. Purchase of two plow trucks $641,742

Long term service provider / in compliance 
with a product or equipment standardization 
program

SKIDATA Inc.
Hardware and software support services 
and training $193,530

Proprietary service provider / in compliance 
with strategic alliance requirements

Transcore
Supply and installation of license plate 
recognition cameras and transponders $500,000

Single source provider / in compliance with 
a product or equipment standardization 
program

Gatekeeper 
Systems, Inc.

Software system to manage private 
transportation providers $300,000

Single source provider / critical operating 
requirement

Compass Canada 
Support Services 
Ltd.

Janitorial and baggage cart services 
agreement extension $6,000,000

In compliance with strategic alliance 
requirements

Embross North 
America Ltd.

Upgrade, replacement and refurbishment 
of common use kiosk hardware $284,000

Proprietary service provider / in compliance 
with a product or equipment standardization 
program F

FINANCIALS
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EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016 (in thousands of dollars)
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(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$

REVENUE
Airport improvement fee (note 12) 89,383 91,387
Concessions and parking 56,223 58,017
Airside and general terminal 42,097 45,674
Police and security 12,563 10,135
Real estate leases 5,474 5,057
Other revenue 359 152

206,099 210,422

EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits 31,071 30,928
Service, maintenance, supplies and administration 31,248 32,116
Canada Lease Rent (notes 1 and 15(c)) 17,504 17,971
Utilities, insurance and property taxes 11,391 11,554
Police and security 10,183 8,627
Airport improvement fee collection costs (note 12) 4,540 4,643

105,937 105,839

EBITDA (note 16) 100,162 104,583

OTHER EXPENSES
Depreciation and amortization (notes 8(c) and 9(b)) 62,963 65,327
Interest (note 6(f)) 45,160 44,869
Gain on foreign exchange (52) (221)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (note 8(e)) 20 201

108,091 110,176

NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR (7,929) (5,593)

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Items that will not be reclassified to net loss
Remeasurement gain (loss) on post-employment benefits (note 7) (3,058) 286

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (10,987) (5,307)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 40,969 39,073
Accounts receivable (note 5) 20,156 16,575
Prepaid expenses and other 5,314 5,421

66,439 61,069

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Restricted deposits (note 6(b)) 33,539 33,238
Prepaid expense and lessee receivable 514 366
Property, plant and equipment (note 8) 971,720 978,881
Intangible assets (note 9) 3,764 3,132

1,075,976 1,076,686

LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (notes 8(b) and 10) 41,654 31,938
Current portion of deferred revenue (note 11) 1,118 993
Current portion of post-employment benefits (note 7(c)) 1,386 –
Current portion of long-term debt (note 6) 24,597 22,092

68,755 55,023

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Tenants’ security deposits 2,313 1,692
Deferred revenue (note 11) 11,027 11,230
Post-employment benefits (note 7) 7,012 6,577
Long-term debt (note 6) 938,980 943,288

1,028,087 1,017,810
Contingencies (note 14)
Commitments (note 15)

NET ASSETS 47,889 58,876

1,075,976 1,076,686

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Chair Chair – Audit Committee

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
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(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss for the year (7,929) (5,593)
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 62,963 65,327
Amortization of borrowing costs 289 283
Gain on foreign exchange (52) (221)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 20 201
Post-employment benefit expense 3,828 3,521
Finance costs – net 44,456 44,092

Changes in working capital:
Accounts receivable (3,651) 2,420
Prepaid expenses and other 107 (764)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (2,156) (968)
Deferred revenue (78) 11,420
Tenants’ security deposits 621 34

Post-employment benefit contributions (5,065) (5,236)
Interest paid (45,190) (45,072)
Interest received 704 777

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 48,867 70,221

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Lessee receivable (148) 38
Purchase of restricted deposits (301) (328)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (42,329) (41,633)
Purchase of intangible assets (1,813) (2,461)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 13
Interest paid capitalized to property, plant and equipment (340) (1,561)

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (44,931) (45,932)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of long-term debt (22,092) (20,726)
Proceeds from long-term debt 20,000 -

NET CASH FLOWS (USED IN) FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (2,092) (20,726)

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 52 221

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,896 3,784

Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year 39,073 35,289

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – END OF YEAR 40,969 39,073

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(in thousands)
2016 

$
2015 

$

NET ASSETS – BEGINNING OF YEAR 58,876 64,183
Remeasurement gain (loss) that will not be reclassified to net loss (3,058) 286
Net loss for the year (7,929) (5,593)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (10,987) (5,307)

NET ASSETS – END OF YEAR 47,889 58,876

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

A) BASIS OF PREPARATION
Edmonton Airports prepares its financial statements in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) as issued by the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. Edmonton Airports has consistently applied IFRS throughout these financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared in Canadian dollars under the historical cost convention. The financial statements and notes 
are presented in thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in note 4.

B) JOINT ARRANGEMENTS
These arrangements are undivided interests in the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses under arrangement and Edmonton Airports 
records its proportionate share in accordance with the agreements as joint operations, under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements.

On December 19, 2014, Edmonton Airports entered into a Joint Venture Agreement with Edmonton Economic Development Corporation 
(EEDC) for purposes of establishing an initiative called Port Alberta to assist in expanding and enhancing the Edmonton region, 
economically, and to establish Port Alberta as a critical logistics service centre and energy hub for North America. The principal place of 
business will be Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 

Edmonton Airports and EEDC have joint control of the arrangement through the establishment of co-chairs with equal decision making 
authority. Edmonton Airports will share all liabilities, obligations, costs and expenses in proportion to the activities carried out through the 
arrangement. Net revenues generated will be reinvested to promote the goals of Port Alberta. 

No significant expenditures or commitments were incurred to December 31, 2016.

C) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash and other investments with an original term of 90 days or less.

D) LEASES
A lease is classified as a finance lease when it transfers to the lessee substantially all the risks and rewards related to ownership of the leased 
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

Edmonton Airports as the lessee: 

Operating lease payments made are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic 
basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognized as deferred revenue. The 
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognized as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 

The Canada Lease Agreement is accounted for as an operating lease. 

Edmonton Airports as the lessor: 

The amount receivable from the lessee in accordance with a finance lease is recognized at an amount equal to the net investment of 
Edmonton Airports in the lease. Lease income from finance leases is recognized over the term of the lease in order to reflect a constant 
periodic return on Edmonton Airports’ net investment in the finance lease. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Amounts not recognized as income in the 
current year are classified and recorded as deferred revenue. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their 
nature.

In the event that lease incentives are provided to the lessee to enter into an operating lease, when the lease incentive adds future economic 
value to the space independent of the lease in place, such costs are capitalized to property, plant and equipment and recognized through 
depreciation expense over the useful life of the corresponding asset. If the costs incurred are specific to the lessee, and do not have stand-
alone value, these costs are treated as tenant incentives and amortized on a straight-line basis to revenue over the lease term.

1 NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
Edmonton Regional Airports Authority (Edmonton Airports) was incorporated on July 26, 1990 under the provisions of the Regional Airports 
Authorities Act (Alberta) (the Act) for the purposes of managing the airports for which it is responsible in a safe, secure and efficient manner 
and to advance economic and community development by promoting improved airline and transportation service and an expanded 
aviation industry. The Board of Directors of Edmonton Airports consists of a maximum of 15 members. Six Directors are appointed by the 
City of Edmonton, two by the Government of Canada (the Landlord) and one each by Leduc County, the City of Leduc, Parkland County, 
Strathcona County and Sturgeon County. The Board of Directors has the right to appoint two Directors which the Board of Directors has 
elected not to appoint. In accordance with the provisions of the Act, all of Edmonton Airports’ surpluses are applied towards promoting its 
purposes and no dividends are paid out of the surpluses. Surpluses in these financial statements are described as net assets. 

Edmonton Airports’ registered office and principal place of business is located at #1, 1000 Airport Road, Edmonton International Airport, 
T9E 0V3, Alberta, Canada. 

Edmonton Airports’ earnings are generated from airport-related operations and are exempt from federal and provincial income tax. 

These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on March 16, 2017. 

EDMONTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
On April 2, 1992, Edmonton Airports signed an agreement with the Landlord to transfer control of the Edmonton International Airport (the 
Airport) to Edmonton Airports. Effective July 31, 1992, Edmonton Airports signed the Ground Lease Agreement (Canada Lease) with the 
Landlord to lease the Airport facilities for an initial period of 60 years ending in 2052. On August 1, 1992, Edmonton Airports assumed 
control of the Airport. All revenue and expenditure contracts in effect on August 1, 1992, were assigned to Edmonton Airports and Edmonton 
Airports did not assume any liability with respect to claims against the Landlord prior to this date. Under the option granted to Edmonton 
Airports in the Canada Lease, Edmonton Airports provided notice to the Landlord that the option was being exercised to extend the term for 
an additional 20 years. The Landlord advised Edmonton Airports on August 13, 2012, that such notice was duly received and as such the 
term of the Canada Lease has been extended, on the same terms and conditions, for an additional 20 years expiring July 31, 2072. At the 
end of the renewal term, Edmonton Airports is obligated to return control of the Airport to the Landlord. The Airport must be returned in a 
state of good order, condition and repair. The Airport must also be free and clear of any Occupancy Agreement, Transfer, Leasehold Mortgage 
(as defined in the Canada Lease) or other encumbrances of any nature or kind except those for which the Landlord has granted rights of 
non-disturbance.

The Canada Lease is the principal document governing the relationship between Edmonton Airports and the Landlord at the Airport. It 
determines the rent (Canada Lease Rent) to be paid and generally allocates risk and responsibilities between Edmonton Airports and the 
Landlord for all matters related to the operation of the Airport. Under the terms of the Canada Lease, Edmonton Airports is fully responsible 
for the management, operation and development at the Airport. Edmonton Airports is free to operate the Airport on a commercial basis and 
has the authority to set rates and charges and to develop and improve facilities. The Landlord retains regulatory control over aeronautics and 
as such, will set safety and security standards for airports, license airports and regulate the aviation industry as a whole. 

Canada Lease Rent is calculated as a percentage of Gross Revenue at the Airport as defined by the Canada Lease and related documents 
using escalating percentages with the following ranges: 0% for Gross Revenue below $5.0 million, 1% for Gross Revenue between $5.0 
million and $10.0 million, 5% for Gross Revenue between $10.0 million and $25.0 million, 8% for Gross Revenue between $25.0 million 
and $100.0 million, 10% for Gross Revenue between $100.0 million and $250.0 million, and 12% for Gross Revenue in excess of $250.0 
million. The calculation of Gross Revenue is subject to audit by the Landlord. The future lease payments due to the Landlord are based upon 
projected Gross Revenue in each year and are estimated in note 15(c). 

The Airport operates on approximately 2,800 hectares of land in the County of Leduc adjacent to the City of Leduc in the Province of 
Alberta. The assets of the Airport include air-terminal, airside assets including two runways, multiple taxiways and aprons, loading bridges, 
groundside assets including parking lots, maintenance facilities and other ancillary structures necessary to execute its mandate. These assets 
will revert to the Landlord (Transport Canada) upon the expiration or termination of the Canada Lease. Assets owned by NAV CANADA, the 
operator of Canada’s civil air navigation system, are excluded from Airport operations. 

Edmonton Airports is committed to the continuing development of the Airport. This includes continued redevelopment of the terminals, 
increasing airside capacity, and increasing cargo and aircraft facilities. 

VILLENEUVE AIRPORT
On March 30, 2000, Edmonton Airports acquired from the Landlord all lands, assets, chattels and equipment comprising the Villeneuve 
Airport for a nominal amount. Villeneuve Airport operates on approximately 579 hectares of land in Sturgeon County and is a certified 
general aviation airport. Villeneuve Airport’s role is to serve the needs of small commercial, recreational flying and general aviation and it is 
a flight training facility with a flight control system owned and operated by NAV CANADA.

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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G) BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as 
the assets are available for use as intended by management. All other borrowing costs are recognized as interest expense in the statements 
of comprehensive loss in the year in which they are incurred. The amount of borrowing cost capitalized is determined by applying a 
weighted average cost of borrowings to qualifying assets included in the construction work in progress

H) IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For the purpose of measuring recoverable 
amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash-generating units (CGUs). The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of 
the relevant asset or CGUs). An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount. 

Edmonton Airports evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when events or circumstances may indicate such consideration is 
appropriate. The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss shall not exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for 
the asset in prior years.

I) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Edmonton Airports recognizes revenues when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and if 
collection is reasonably assured as follows: 
• Airport improvement fee (AIF) revenue is recognized based upon monthly remittances from air carriers. Monthly remittances are 

estimated when necessary and adjusted to actual amounts received. 
• Concession revenue is recognized based upon the greater of agreed percentages of reported concession sales and specified minimum 

rentals over the terms of the respective leases. 
• Airside and general terminal and parking revenues are recognized as the airport facilities are utilized. 
• Police and security revenue is recognized as these services are provided. 
• Real estate revenue net of incentives is recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases. 

J) POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Edmonton Airports operates various post-employment plans including a defined benefit (DB) pension plan, a defined contribution (DC) 
pension plan, a (DB) Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) with one member that is a non-funded liability, and a non-funded 
long-term benefit plan for eligible employees under the terms of the collective bargaining agreements. 

The DC plan is a pension plan under which Edmonton Airports pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. Edmonton Airports has no 
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay employees the benefits 
relating to their contributions plus investment income. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or reduction in the future payment is available. A DB plan is 
a pension plan that is not a DC plan. 

The liability recognized in the balance sheet in respect of the DB pension plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries 
using the unit credit method. The present value of the post-employment benefit obligations is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that have duration to maturity approximating the duration of the 
related pension liability. 

Re-measurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in full in the 
period in which they arise in other comprehensive income. 

Past service costs are recognized immediately in net loss for the year. 

The expected costs of the DB SERP are accrued over the period of employment using the same methodology as used for the DB pension 
plan. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in full in the 
period in which they arise in other comprehensive income. These obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries.

E) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost, net of applicable government grants, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses and include only the amounts expended by Edmonton Airports. Property, plant and equipment do not include the cost of 
the facilities that are leased from the Landlord (note 8). These assets will revert to Transport Canada upon the expiration or termination of the 
Canada Lease. No amounts are amortized longer than the lease term. 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 
use, the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located and interest capitalized during the 
construction of the asset. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major 
components) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal with the 
carrying amount of that property, plant and equipment, and are recognized net within other items in the statements of comprehensive loss. 

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that 
the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to Edmonton Airports and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the statements of comprehensive loss during 
the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each 
component of an item of property, plant and equipment, since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. Leased assets are amortized over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is 
reasonably certain that Edmonton Airports will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

The major categories of property, plant and equipment are amortized at the following annual rates:

TERMINAL AND FACILITIES
Buildings 1.67 – 50.00%
Roadway systems 2.50 – 20.00%
Parking facilities and lots 2.50 – 20.00%
Runway, taxiways and apron surfaces 1.67 – 33.33%
Land development 1.67 – 10.00%
Land Straight-line over the remaining term of the Ground lease

TERMINAL AND FACILITIES
MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
Vehicles and maintenance equipment 5.00 - 33.33%
Furniture and equipment 2.85 - 20.00%
Computer hardware 33.33 - 50.00%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted as appropriate. 

Edmonton Airports has previously purchased land for operational purposes and future development. The Canada Lease requires that 
at commencement of development the applicable land be transferred to the Government of Canada at which time Edmonton Airports 
reclassifies the land to leased land.

F) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses and include only the amounts 
expended by Edmonton Airports, offset by any contributions from government grants. Intangible assets do not include the cost of the 
facilities that are leased from the Landlord (note 9). 

Intangible assets include purchased computer software and software licenses with finite useful lives. These assets are capitalized and 
amortized on a straight-line basis in the statements of comprehensive loss at the following annual rates:

Purchased software and software licenses   10.00 – 50.00%

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY
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3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND DISCLOSURES
A) NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED IN 2016
Edmonton Airports has adopted the following new and amended standards, along with any consequential amendments, effective 
January 1, 2016. These changes were made in accordance with the applicable transitional provisions.
• Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortization (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38)
• Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to IAS 1

As these amendments merely clarify the existing requirements, their adoption did not have any impact on the current or prior year financial 
statements.

B) ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED
i) IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces existing guidance in IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 
includes revised guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, including a new expected credit loss model for 
calculating impairment on financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also carries forward the guidance on 
recognition and derecognition of financial instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Additional disclosures on transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 will be required under IFRS 7, the 
application of which is effective on adoption of IFRS 9. Edmonton Airports is yet to assess IFRS 9’s full impact. 

ii) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognized, as well as requiring 
entities to provide more informative, relevant disclosures in respect of revenue recognition criteria. It replaces existing revenue recognition 
guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programs. IFRS 15 is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Edmonton Airports is currently evaluating the 
impact of IFRS 15 on our financial statements.

iii) IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16, published in January 2016, will replace IAS 17. IFRS 16 will bring most leases on-balance sheet for leases under a single model, 
eliminating the distinction between operating and finance leases. Under IFRS 16, all leases are to be capitalized by recognizing the present 
value of lease payments as both a financial asset and financial liability. The new standard effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted if IFRS 15 has also been applied. Edmonton Airports is yet to assess IFRS 16’s full impact.

C) THE FOLLOWING AMENDED STANDARD EFFECTIVE FOR ANNUAL PERIODS BEGINNING ON OR AFTER JANUARY 1, 2017 ARE NOT 
EXPECTED TO HAVE A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON EDMONTON AIRPORT’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS:
• IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows has been revised to incorporate amendments issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) in January 2016. The amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2017, with early adoption permitted.

K) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one party and a financial liability or equity instrument of another 
party. Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when Edmonton Airports becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the financial asset 
and all substantial risks and rewards have transferred. A financial liability is derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or 
expired. 

At initial recognition, all assets and liabilities are classified as follows depending on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired:

i) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short-term. Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and 
subsequently at fair value. Transaction costs are expensed in the statements of comprehensive loss. Gains and losses arising from changes 
in fair value are presented in the statements of comprehensive loss within other gains and losses in the period in which they arise. Financial 
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current except for the portion expected to be realized or paid beyond 
twelve months of the statements of financial position date, which is classified as non-current.

ii) Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. The Edmonton Airports’ loans and receivables comprise accounts receivable and cash and cash equivalents, 
which are included in current assets due to their short-term nature. Receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method less a provision for impairment. 

Impairment losses on financial assets carried at amortized cost are reversed in subsequent periods if the amount of the loss decreases and 
the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized. The reversal shall not result in a carrying 
amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized at the date 
the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal shall be recognized in net loss.  

iii) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued liabilities and 
long-term debt. Trade payables are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid which approximates fair value. Subsequently, 
trade payables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Long-term debt are recognized initially at fair value, net 
of any transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Financial liabilities are classified as 
current liabilities if payment is due within twelve months. Otherwise, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

L) GOVERNMENT GRANTS
All government grants related to property, plant and equipment are recorded as reductions to the carrying value of the assets to which the 
grant applies. All government grants related to revenue and expense are recorded as reductions to the related expense in the period which 
the grant has met recognition criteria.

EDMONTON REGIONAL AIRPORTS AUTHORITY
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5 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

2016 
$

2015 
$

Trade receivables 18,584 12,993
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (502) (367)
Trade receivables – net 18,082 12,626

Capital grants receivable – 1,773
Other receivables and accrued receivables 2,074 2,176

20,156 16,575

All of Edmonton Airports’ trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment. Certain trade receivables were found 
to be impaired and a provision for impairment of accounts receivable has been recorded (note 16).

6 LONG-TERM DEBT
A) TOTAL LONG-TERM DEBT OUTSTANDING

2016 
$

2015 
$

Series A Bond 205,104 211,719
Series C Bond 761,598 757,074

966,702 968,793
Less: Current portion Series A Bond 7,366 6,615
Less: Current portion Series C Bond 17,231 15,477
Total current portion 24,597 22,092

Less: Unamortized transaction costs 3,125 3,413

938,980 943,288

B) SERIES A BOND AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS
In October 2000, Edmonton Airports completed a $250 million revenue bond issue (Series A Bond) to fund the requirements of the Air 
Terminal Redevelopment project. Net proceeds of the issue were used to retire an existing credit facility and to complete the project’s 
construction. 

Pursuant to the terms of this bond, Edmonton Airports is required to maintain a Debt Service Reserve Fund equal to one-half of its annual 
debt service costs and an Operating and Maintenance Contingency Fund equal to one quarter of its annual operation and maintenance 
expenses. At December 31, 2016, Restricted deposits of $33,539 (2015 – $33,238) exist as a requirement of the Debt Service Reserve Fund. 
These deposits earned annual interest of 0.90% (2015 – 1.10%). The Operating and Maintenance Contingency Fund can be satisfied by 
cash, letter of credit or undrawn availability of the Series B Bond and revolving credit facility.

Throughout the term, when the bonds are outstanding, Edmonton Airports is required to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio on a 
rolling 12 months basis of 1.00:1 and a Gross Debt Service coverage Ratio of not less than 1.25:1. All covenants have been met.

Interest Rate
Semi-annual Instalment 

$ Maturity Date
2016 

$
2015 

$
7.21% Varying November 1, 2030 205,104 211,719
Less: Unamortized transaction costs 3,125 3,413

201,979 208,306
Less: Current portion 7,366 6,615

194,613 201,691

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In applying Edmonton Airports’ accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other relevant factors. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Accounting estimates and their underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

i) Critical judgments in applying accounting policies: 
The following are the critical judgments that management has made in the process of applying Edmonton Airports’ accounting policies and 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements.  

Lease incentives: Payments to tenants or tenant improvements are often provided when new leases are signed. When the payments or 
tenant improvements add future economic value to the space independent of the lease in place, such costs are capitalized to property, 
plant and equipment. If the costs incurred are specific to the lessee, and do not have stand-alone value, these costs are treated as tenant 
incentives and amortized on a straight-line basis to revenue over the lease term in accordance with SIC 15, Operating Leases – Incentives. 
Edmonton Airports uses its judgment in determining whether the lease incentive should be recorded as property, plant and equipment or 
a lease incentive. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets: Critical judgments are utilized in determining when an item of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets are available for use as intended by management. This determination impacts the timing of cessation of 
capitalized interest and commencement of depreciation. 

Leases: Edmonton Airports evaluates agreement terms and conditions to determine whether they contain or are leases. Where a lease exists, 
Edmonton Airports determines whether substantially all of the significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the customer, 
in which case it is accounted for as a finance lease, or remain with the Edmonton Airports, in which case it is accounted for as an operating 
lease.

ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting 
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fiscal 
year. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets: Significant components of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 
are depreciated and amortized over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives are determined based on current facts and past experience, 
and take into consideration the anticipated physical life of the asset. While these useful life estimates are reviewed on a regular basis and 
depreciation calculations are revised accordingly, actual lives may differ from the estimates. 

Post-employment benefits: The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an 
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost for pensions include the discount rate. 
Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of pension obligations. Key assumptions for pension obligations are 
included in note 7. Edmonton Airports considers the extrapolation of the December 31, 2015 figures of the DB pension plan to be an 
appropriate method to estimate Edmonton Airports’ pension obligation and expense as at and for the year ended December 31, 2016 since 
the revised assumptions used in relation with this extrapolation were reviewed and found to be appropriate. 

 

Fair value of long-term debt: Edmonton Airports uses valuation techniques in measuring fair value of long-term debt for disclosure 
purposes, where active market quotes are not available. Details of the assumptions are provided in note 16. In applying the valuation 
techniques, Edmonton Airports makes maximum use of market inputs, and uses estimates and assumptions that are, as much as possible, 
consistent with observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where applicable data is not observable, 
Edmonton Airports uses its best estimate about the assumptions that market participants would make. These estimates may vary from the 
actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s-length transaction at the reporting date.
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FIXED RATE DEBENTURES, SERIES C BONDS PAYABLE IN SEMI-ANNUAL INSTALMENTS OF INTEREST ONLY:

Interest Rate
Semi-annual Instalment 

$ Maturity Date
2016 

$
2015 

$
4.16% 1,041 June 15, 2041 50,000 50,000
3.70% 926 September 15, 2041 50,000 50,000
3.35% 1,174 December 15, 2041 70,000 70,000
3.41% 512 March 15, 2042 30,000 30,000
3.25% 488 June 15, 2042 30,000 30,000
3.26% 651 September 17, 2042 40,000 40,000
3.24% 324 December 17, 2042 20,000 20,000
3.42% 343 March 15, 2043 20,000 20,000

310,000 310,000
761,598 757,074

Less: Current portion 17,231 15,477
744,367 741,597

E) THE FUTURE ANNUAL PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST PAYMENTS REQUIRED TO RETIRE THE LONG-TERM DEBT ARE AS FOLLOWS:

Principal 
$

Interest 
$

Total 
$

2017 24,597 44,882 69,479
2018 30,891 43,527 74,418
2019 35,531 41,922 77,453
2020 37,854 40,141 77,995
2021 40,030 38,239 78,269
Thereafter 797,799 320,733 1,118,532

966,702 529,444 1,496,146

F) INTEREST EXPENSE (INCOME)

2016 
$

2015 
$

Series A Bond interest 15,352 15,792
Series C Bond interest 30,437 30,925
Interest portion of current service cost for post-employment benefits 291 370
Other interest and financing costs 124 120
Interest income and other (704) (777)

45,500 46,430
Capitalized interest (note 8(d)) (340) (1,561)

45,160 44,869

C) SERIES B BOND AND REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY
In addition, Edmonton Airports maintains with the Royal Bank of Canada a three-year term, $5 million revolving credit facility to support 
operations and a $40 million term revolving loan (Series B Bond) for general corporate purposes and to assist in the interim financing of 
construction projects. The credit facility was renewed in 2015 for another three-year term and no drawdowns on the credit facility were made 
since 2015. As at December 31, 2016, $20,834 (2015 – $20,460) of the term revolving loan had been set aside for the Operating and 
Maintenance Contingency Fund as required under the Series A Bond. 

Pledged as collateral to the bonds are: a first leasehold mortgage on the Edmonton International Airport and related Canada Lease; a 
security interest over all of the present and future personal property of Edmonton Airports including without limitation, all book debts, and 
all sources of revenue and assets and any reserve funds; and a floating charge over all of the other present and future property and assets of 
Edmonton Airports.  

D) SERIES C BOND
Under its existing capital markets platform, Edmonton Airports entered into a Credit Agreement (Agreement) with the Alberta Capital 
Finance Authority (ACFA) on December 6, 2006. On March 19, 2008, the Agreement was amended (First Amending Agreement) for 
Edmonton Airports to finance the capital expansion program at the Edmonton International Airport. On March 12, 2012, the First Amending 
Agreement was amended (Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) for Edmonton Airports to finance the construction of non-expansion 
related infrastructure at the Edmonton International Airport. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement contains three Credit Facilities. 

Credit Facility 1, for $1.0 billion, by way of fixed rate loans, is to be used solely for the purposes of airport infrastructure expenditures at the 
Edmonton International Airport. 

Credit Facility 2, for $300 million, by way of fixed rate loans, is to be used firstly for the purposes of redeeming or purchasing for cancellation 
the Series A Bond and the Series B Bond. The First Amending Agreement restricts any drawdown of the final $50 million of Credit Facility 
2 until all the Series B Bond is redeemed. Once Series A and Series B Bonds are fully redeemed, any residual balance in Credit Facility 2 
can be used for the same purposes as Credit Facility. Credit Facility 3, for $100 million, by way of fixed rate loans, is to be used solely for 
the purposes of funding capital expenditure projects, the general purpose of which are to construct or improve infrastructure in respect to 
buildings, airfield, land, roads, navigational aids and other assets required for the operation of the Edmonton International Airport. The use 
of Credit Facility 3 reduces, dollar for dollar, the amount available to Edmonton Airports under Credit Facility 1. 

Throughout the period, when debentures are outstanding, Edmonton Airports is required to maintain an Interest Coverage Ratio of not less 
than 1.25:1 and net cash flows greater than zero as of the end of any fiscal quarter on a rolling four fiscal quarter basis. All covenants have 
been met. 

The collateral pledged under the Agreement is the same as and ranks equally with the Series A and Series B Bonds. 

FIXED RATE DEBENTURES, SERIES C BONDS PAYABLE IN SEMI-ANNUAL INSTALMENTS OF PRINCIPAL AND INTEREST:

Interest Rate
Semi-annual Instalment 

$ Maturity Date
2016 

$
2015 

$
4.37% 755 December 15, 2026 12,126 13,075
4.50% 1,145 March 15, 2027 19,002 20,391
5.00% 398 June 15, 2027 6,447 6,904
4.89% 395 September 17, 2027 6,655 7,103
4.68% 1,552 June 16, 2028 27,350 29,109
4.55% 3,068 September 17, 2028 56,249 59,706
4.67% 1,245 December 15, 2039 34,901 35,734
4.54% 920 March 15, 2040 26,425 27,045
4.56% 1,845 June 15, 2040 52,873 54,110
4.00% 1,439 October 1, 2040 44,122 45,201
4.40% 2,112 December 15, 2040 62,233 63,672
4.41% 1,511 March 15, 2041 44,982 45,986
3.73% 557 March 17, 2044 19,047 19,439
3.36% 260 September 15, 2044 9,599 9,802
3.18% 266 December 15, 2044 9,587 9,797
2.72% 490 December 15, 2046 20,000 –

451,598 447,074
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The movement in the defined benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets of the pension plan over the years 2015 and 2016 is as 
follows:

Present value 
of obligation 

$

Fair value of 
plan assets 

$
Total 

$

At January 1, 2015 53,080 (48,318) 4,762
Current service cost 2,918 – 2,918
Interest expense (income) 2,237 (2,020) 217
Impact on net loss for the year 5,155 (2,020) 3,135

REMEASUREMENTS
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest (income) – (2,441) (2,441)
Loss from change in mortality assumptions 1,478 – 1,478
Loss from change in financial assumptions 1,800 – 1,800
Experience loss (1,244) – (1,244)
Impact of re-measurements on other comprehensive income (loss) 2,034 (2,441) (407)

CONTRIBUTIONS
Employer – (4,986) (4,986)
Participants – (43) (43)
Benefit payments (2,868) 2,868 –
Administration costs – 247 247

At December 31, 2015 57,401 (54,693) 2,708

At January 1, 2016 57,401 (54,693) 2,708

Current service cost 3,193 – 3,193
Interest expense (income) 2,242 (2,096) 146

Impact on net loss for the year 5,435 (2,096) 3,339

REMEASUREMENTS
Return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense (income) – (617) (617)
Loss from change in mortality assumptions – – –
Loss from change in financial assumptions 3,274 – 3,274
Experience gain 351 – 351
Impact of remeasurements on other comprehensive income (loss) 3,625 (617) 3,008

CONTRIBUTIONS – (4,305) (4,305)
Employer – (40) (40)
Participants (3,191) 3,191 –
Benefit payments – 231 231

At December 31, 2016 63,270 (58,329) 4,941

7 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The table below outlines where Edmonton Airports’ post-employment amounts and activity are included in the financial statements:

2016 
$

2015 
$

LIABILITIES INCLUDED IN STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Defined benefit pension plan 4,941 2,708
Supplementary executive retirement plan 3,206 3,233
Long-term benefit plan 251 636
Liability in the statements of financial position 8,398 6,577

EXPENSE INCLUDED IN NET LOSS FOR THE YEAR:
Defined benefit pension plan 3,530 3,339
Supplementary executive retirement plan 119 127
Long-term benefit plan 179 55

3,828 3,521

RE-MEASUREMENTS FOR:
Defined benefit pension plan (3,008) 407
Supplementary executive retirement plan (46) (111)
Long-term benefit plan (4) (10)
Re-measurement gain (loss) on post-employment benefits (3,058) 286

Present value of funded obligations 63,268 57,399
Fair value of plan assets 58,327 54,691
Deficit of funded plans 4,941 2,708
Present value of unfunded obligations 3,457 3,869
Liability in the statements of financial position 8,398 6,577

A) DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN
Effective October 1, 2013, Edmonton Airports closed the existing DB pension plan to employees subject to collective bargaining and such 
employees are now included in the DC pension plan. The number of employees in the DB pension plan will diminish as time passes. 

The most recent funding recommendation for the DB portion of the pension plan was completed as at December 31, 2015 and is contained 
in an actuarial report dated June 30, 2016. The next required actuarial valuation for funding purposes must be effective no later than 
December 31, 2016. The financial statements were prepared based on an actuarial valuation completed as at December 31, 2015 with an 
extrapolation to December 31, 2016.

The level of DB pension benefits provided depends on a member’s length of service and their best average pensionable salary. Pensions 
paid are indexed with inflation and the benefit payments are from funds administered under an insurance contract. Responsibility for 
governance of the pension plan lies with Edmonton Airports. 

Edmonton Airports has set up a pension administration committee to assist in the management of the pension plan and has also appointed 
experienced, independent professional experts such as investment managers, actuaries and fund holders. 
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CHANGES IN BOND YIELDS
A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially offset by an increase in the value of the plan’s 
bond holdings.

INFLATION RISK
The majority of the plan’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the 
plan’s assets are loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation will also increase the deficit.

LIFE EXPECTANCY
The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result in an 
increase in the plan’s liabilities. This is particularly significant in all Edmonton Airports’ plans where inflationary increases result in higher 
sensitivity to changes in life expectancy. 

Each sensitivity analysis disclosed in this note is based on changing one assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In 
practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined 
benefit obligation to variations in significant actuarial assumptions, the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation 
calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as for calculating the liability 
recognized in the statement of financial position.

In case of the funded plan, Edmonton Airports ensures that the investment positions are managed within an asset-liability matching (ALM) 
framework that has been developed to achieve long-term investments that are in line with the obligations under the pension plans. Within 
this framework, Edmonton Airports’ ALM objective is to match assets to the pension obligations by investing in long-term fixed interest 
securities with maturities that match the benefit payments as they fall due and in the appropriate currency. Edmonton Airports does not 
use derivatives to manage its risk. Investments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single investment would not have a material 
impact on the overall level of assets. A large portion of assets in 2016 consists of equities and bonds. Edmonton Airports believes that 
equities offer the best returns over the long-term with an acceptable level of risk. The plans are not exposed to significant foreign currency 
risk. 

As at December 31, 2015, the aggregate solvency deficit in the defined benefit portion of the pension plan amounted to $5,661. Edmonton 
Airports will make special payments for past service of $1,132 to fund the pension plan deficit over five years. Edmonton Airports’ current 
service contribution is equal to 16.4% of pensionable salaries. There are no contributions to the SERP or the long-term benefit plan. The next 
annual actuarial valuation for funding purposes for the pension plan is due to be completed as at December 31, 2016.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit pension plan obligation is 11.1 years. 

The expected maturity analysis of undiscounted pension and long-term benefits is summarized as follows:

Less than 
1 year 

$

Between 
1-2 years 

$

Between 
2-5 years 

$

Over 
5 years 

$
Total 

$
Defined benefit pension plan 4,255 4,275 13,013 78,220 99,763
SERP 191 189 554 2,825 3,759
Long-term benefit plan 124 54 21 74 273
At December 31, 2016 4,570 4,518 13,588 81,119 103,795

The significant actuarial assumptions are as follows:

2016 
%

2015 
%

Discount rate 3.70 3.80
Rate of compensation increase 3.00 3.00

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set on actuarial advice in accordance with published statistics and experience of the pension 
plan. Recent experience has indicated actuarial gains or losses that are not material to the pension plan. These assumptions translate into an 
average life expectancy in years for a pensioner retiring at age 60:

2016 
years

2015 
years

Retiring at the end of reporting period:
Male 26.2 26.0
Female 28.6 28.5

Retiring 20 years after end of reporting period:
Male 27.3 27.2
Female 29.6 29.5

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in assumptions is set out below. The effects on the DB portion of the pension 
plan of a change in an assumption are weighted proportionately to the total plan obligations to determine the total impact for each 
assumption presented.

Impact on defined benefit obligation
Change in 

assumption
Increase in 

assumption
Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25% (2.8%) 2.7%
Rate of compensation increase 0.25% 1.0% (0.9%)
Mortality rates 10% (2.3%) 2.5%

Through its defined benefit plans, Edmonton Airports is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

ASSET VOLATILITY
The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if plan assets underperform this yield, 
this will create a deficit. The plans hold a significant proportion of equities, which are expected to outperform corporate bonds in the 
long-term while contributing volatility and risk in the short-term. As the plans mature, Edmonton Airports intends to reduce the level of 
investment risk by investing more in assets that better match the liabilities. Edmonton Airports believes that due to the long-term nature of 
the plan liabilities and the strength of the supporting group, a level of continuing equity investment is an appropriate element of Edmonton 
Airports’ long-term strategy to manage the plan efficiently.

Plan assets are comprised as follows:

2016 
%

2015 
%

Equities 59.70 59.70
Debt securities 40.30 40.30
Total 100.00 100.00
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8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
Buildings 

$

Roadway 
systems 

$

Parking 
facilities 
and lots 

$

Runway, 
taxiways 

and apron 
surfaces 

$

Land 
Development 

$

Vehicles and 
maintenance 

equipment 
$

Furniture and 
equipment 

$

Computer 
hardware 

$
Land 

$

Construction 
work in 

progress 
$

Total 
$

Balance at 
January 1, 2015 863,772 46,014 127,485 247,721 29,966 25,599 17,072 20,474 4,080 50,573 1,432,756
Additions/transfers 14,445 1,967 5,946 6,489 1,233 2,163 105 2,482 – 8,744 43,574
Disposals (3) – – (323) – (110) (9) (378) – – (823)

Balance at 
December 31, 2015 878,214 47,981 133,431 253,887 31,199 27,652 17,168 22,578 4,080 59,317 1,475,507

Balance at 
January 1, 2016 878,214 47,981 133,431 253,887 31,199 27,652 17,168 22,578 4,080 59,317 1,475,507
Additions/transfers 21,947 11,869 2,686 521 46,134 785 111 3,154 – (32,566) 54,641
Disposals (479) – – – (3) – – (618) – – (1,100)

Balance at 
December 31, 2016 899,682 59,850 136,117 254,408 77,330 28,437 17,279 25,114 4,080 26,751 1,529,048

Depreciation
Buildings 

$

Roadway 
systems 

$

Parking 
facilities 
and lots 

$

Runway, 
taxiways 

and apron 
surfaces 

$

Land 
Development 

$

Vehicles and 
maintenance 

equipment 
$

Furniture and 
equipment 

$

Computer 
hardware 

$
Land 

$

Construction 
work in 

progress 
$

Total 
$

Balance at 
January 1, 2015 245,010 15,424 41,754 86,267 6,244 17,026 11,331 10,489 – – 433,545
Depreciation 
for the year 40,667 1,860 4,125 10,544 1,300 1,426 850 2,918 – – 63,690
Disposals (1) – – (129) – (92) (9) (378) – – (609)

Balance at 
December 31, 2015 285,676 17,284 45,879 96,682 7,544 18,360 12,172 13,029 – – 496,626

Balance at 
January 1, 2016 285,676 17,284 45,879 96,682 7,544 18,360 12,172 13,029 – – 496,626
Depreciation 
for the year 37,448 2,100 4,166 10,726 2,044 1,247 616 3,288 147 – 61,782
Disposals (459) – – – (3) – – (618) – – (1,080)

Balance at 
December 31, 2016 322,665 19,384 50,045 107,408 9,585 19,607 12,788 15,699 147 – 557,328

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At December 31, 
2015 592,538 30,697 87,552 157,205 23,655 9,292 4,996 9,549 4,080 59,317 978,881
At December 31, 
2016 577,017 40,466 86,072 147,000 67,745 8,830 4,491 9,415 3,933 26,751 971,720

a) At December 31, 2016, $26,751 (2015 – $59,317) of property, plant and equipment were under construction of which $19,761 (2015 – 
$57,256) was for parking and roadway systems, land servicing, and runways, taxiways and aprons not yet subject to depreciation.

b) Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2016 is $23,783 (2015 – $11,880) relating to unpaid capital expenditures 
(note 10).

c) At December 31, 2016, $61,782 (2015 – $63,690) of property, plant and equipment depreciation was included in the statements of 
comprehensive loss.

d) Property, plant and equipment includes $340 (2015 – $1,561) in borrowing costs capitalized during the year. Borrowing costs were capitalized 
at a weighted average rate of its general borrowing of 4.78% (2015 – 4.81%).

e) Assets with a net book value of $20 (2015 – $214) were disposed of for proceeds of nil (2015 – $13).

B) SUPPLEMENTARY EXECUTIVE RETIREMENT PLAN
Edmonton Airports also has a DB Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) with one member, effective February 1, 2005. The 
benefits provided under the SERP constitute a non-funded liability of Edmonton Airports. All payments made to the member of the 
SERP will be made from general revenues of Edmonton Airports. The financial statements were prepared using an independent actuarial 
valuation completed at December 31, 2016.

The movement in the defined benefit obligation of the SERP over the years 2015 and 2016 is as follows:

2016 
$

2015 
$

Balance – Beginning of year 3,233 3,187 

Current service cost – –
Interest expense 119 127

Impact on net loss for the year 119 127

Impact of remeasurements on other comprehensive loss 46 111
Benefit payments (192) (192)

Balance – End of year 3,206 3,233

The methods and types of assumptions used in determining the defined benefit obligation of the SERP are the same used for the defined 
benefit pension plan. The effect of a 0.25% decrease in the discount rate assumption for the defined benefit obligation would result in an 
increased defined benefit obligation of the SERP of approximately $93,000.

C) LONG-TERM BENEFIT PLAN
Edmonton Airports also has a DB long-term benefit plan for eligible employees under the general bargaining unit collective agreement, 
excluding employees and management and firefighters under a separate collective bargaining agreement. The benefits provided under 
the long-term benefit plan constitute a non-funded liability of Edmonton Airports. The financial statements were prepared using an 
independent actuarial valuation completed at December 31, 2016.

The expected costs of the long-term benefit plan are accrued over the period of employment. On September 29, 2016, as a result of the 
re-negotiated terms of the Firefighter collective agreement, Edmonton Airports will terminate the long-term benefit plan for employees 
under the firefighter bargaining unit collective agreement effective September 29, 2016. Employees will be paid out the long-term benefits 
accumulated to date or direct the balance to retirement savings. Edmonton Airports expects to settle the liability amounted to $1,386 by 
March 8, 2017. 

On January 31, 2017, as a result of the re-negotiated terms of the fire captains’ collective agreement, Edmonton Airports will terminate the 
long-term benefit plan for employees under the fire captains bargaining unit collective agreement effective January 31, 2016. Employees 
will be paid out the long-term benefits accumulated to date or direct the balance to retirement savings. Edmonton Airports expects to settle 
the liability amounted to $104, by 2018. 

For the year ended December 31, 2016, the long-term benefit plan recognized a remeasurement loss equal to $4 (2015 – $10) in other 
comprehensive loss. The loss was due to the accrued benefit obligation higher than expected as a result of change to the discount rate 
assumption. Current service costs of $31 (2015 – $29) and interest expense of $26 (2015 – $26) were reported in the current year. Benefit 
payments totaling $568 (2015 – $58) were made during the current year by the plan. The methods and types of assumptions used in 
determining the long-term benefit plan are the same used for the defined benefit pension plan. In April 2014 Edmonton Airports settled 
the liability related to the ratification of the general bargaining unit collection agreement in 2013.

D) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLAN
Edmonton Airports maintains a pension plan with defined contribution provisions providing pension benefits to employees who joined 
the plan after November 1, 2010, and whose employment conditions are not subject to collective bargaining. This same pension plan 
is maintained for employees who joined the plan after October 1, 2013 and whose employment conditions are subject to collective 
bargaining. Edmonton Airports’ contribution to the defined contribution portion of the plan is a maximum of 5.5% of the employee’s 
regular salary and wages. 

The net expense for the defined contribution portion of the pension plan in 2016 was $363 (2015 – $351).
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11 DEFERRED REVENUE
2016 

$
2015 

$
Deferred revenue 12,458 12,580
Less: Amortized in the current year (313) (357)

12,145 12,223
Less: Current portion (1,118) (993)

11,027 11,230

12 AIRPORT IMPROVEMENT FEE (AIF)
Effective April 12, 1997, Edmonton Airports implemented an AIF to fund capital expenditures and the related financing costs, including the 
capital expenditure projects; the general purpose is to construct or improve airport infrastructure at Edmonton International Airport (see 
note 15(a)).

2016 
$

2015 
$

AIF revenue 848,966 759,583
AIF collection costs, retained by airlines (50,664) (46,195)

798,302 713,388
Less: Cumulative expenditures (1,679,965) (1,618,534)

(881,663) (905,146)

13 OPERATING LEASES
Edmonton Airports leases various retail spaces, hangars and industrial and agricultural lands which terminate between 2016 and 2072. The 
future minimum lease payments receivable under operating leases are:

2016 
$

2015 
$

No later than a year 15,709 20,520
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years 60,708 43,936
Later than 5 years 97,949 83,327

174,366 147,783

Contingent-based rents recognized in the statements of comprehensive loss were $9,793 (2015 – $9,003).

14 CONTINGENCIES
Edmonton Airports has been named as a defendant in certain lawsuits. The outcome of these actions is currently not determinable. In 
Edmonton Airports’ opinion, these actions will not result in any material expense to Edmonton Airports. The cost of settlement, if any, will be 
accounted for in the period of settlement.

9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

COST

Computer 
software 

$

Construction 
work in 

progress 
$

Total 
$

Balance at January 1, 2015 3,953 821 4,774
Additions/transfers 3,220 (293) 2,927
Disposals (955) – (955)
Balance at December 31, 2015 6,218 528 6,746

Balance at January 1, 2016 6,218 528 6,746
Additions/transfers 1,607 206 1,813
Disposals (146) – (146)
Balance at December 31, 2016 7,679 734 8,413

AMORTIZATION

Computer 
software 

$

Construction 
work in 

progress 
$

Total 
$

Balance at January 1, 2015 2,934 – 2,934
Amortization for the year 1,635 – 1,635
Disposals (955) – (955)
Balance at December 31, 2015 3,614 – 3,614

Balance at January 1, 2016 3,614 – 3,614
Amortization for the year 1,181 1,181
Disposals (146) – (146)
Balance at December 31, 2016 4,649 – 4,649

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At December 31, 2015 2,604 528 3,132
At December 31, 2016 3,030 734 3,764

a) At December 31, 2016, $734 (2015 – $528) of intangible assets were under construction and not yet subject to amortization.

b) Intangible assets are purchased software and software licences. During the year ended December 31, 2016, $1,181 (2015 – $1,635) of 
intangible asset amortization was charged to the statements of comprehensive loss.

10 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
2016 

$
2015 

$
Trade payables 525 3,337
Capital expenditures payables (note 8(b)) 23,783 11,880
Payroll source deductions and other employee benefits payable 4,214 4,871
Accrued interest on long-term debt 7,500 7,530
Other accruals and payables 5,632 4,320

41,654 31,938
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16 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Financial instruments measured at fair value are categorized into levels by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as 
follows:
i) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1).
ii) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (that is prices) or 

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2). 
iii) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Edmonton Airports does not record any assets at fair value in the statements of financial position. The only financial instrument that has 
a fair value that does not approximate the carrying value in the statements of financial position is long-term debt. The fair value of the 
long-term debt is categorized as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as it is calculated using the future cash flows (principal and interest) of the 
outstanding debt instruments, discounted at current market rates available to Edmonton Airports for the same or similar instruments. The 
fair value of long-term debt at December 31, 2016 is $1,065,656 (2015 – $1,086,928).

There were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the year.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Edmonton Airports’ Board of Directors is responsible for understanding the principal risks of the business in which Edmonton Airports is 
engaged, achieving a proper balance between risks incurred and the purpose of Edmonton Airports and confirming that there are systems 
in place to effectively monitor and manage those risks with a view to the long-term viability of Edmonton Airports. The Board of Directors has 
established the Audit Committee, which reviews significant financial risks associated with future performance, growth and lost opportunities 
identified by management that could materially affect the ability of Edmonton Airports to achieve its strategic or operational targets. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for confirming that management has procedures in place to mitigate identified risks.

i) Credit risk
For cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and restricted deposits, credit risk represents the carrying amount on the balance sheet. 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted deposits credit risk is reduced by investing in instruments issued by financial institutions that 
management believes are creditworthy and in federal and provincial government issued short-term instruments.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying value of receivables on the balance sheet. Edmonton Airports derives approximately 
73% (2015 – 78%) of its airside and general terminal and AIF revenue remitted from two airlines.

Edmonton Airports mitigates credit risk by endeavouring to obtain security deposits, letters of credit, customer credit evaluations and other 
credit enhancement methods.

At each reporting date, Edmonton Airports assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. If such evidence 
exists, Edmonton Airports recognizes an impairment loss for its financial assets carried at amortized cost. 

The loss is the difference between the amortized cost of the loan or receivable and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, 
discounted using the instrument’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by this amount either directly 
or indirectly through the use of an allowance account. 

Accounts receivable are non-interest bearing and are generally due in 30 to 90 days. At December 31, 2016, provision for impairment of 
accounts receivable was $502 (2015 – $367).

At December 31, 2016, the aging analysis of trade receivables that are past due, but not impaired, is as follows:

2016 
$

2015 
$

30 to 90 days 1,394 5,909
Greater than 90 days 3,373 317

4,767 6,226

No other impairments have been identified within trade or other receivables.

15 COMMITMENTS
a) Capital commitments
Edmonton Airports’ capital projects are identified by airport and are broken into three main categories which are Commercial Real Estate, 
Growth and Maintenance.

Commercial Real Estate includes projects that build the revenue capacity for Edmonton Airports, the funding for which will be approved 
as operating earnings grow, and cash flow becomes available. Projects in this category include highway commercial development, light 
industrial development, and other similar investments. The Growth category is made up of projects that expand capacity, create new services 
and/or improve the passenger experience. This category includes terminal leasehold improvements for new concessions, expanded apron 
and taxiway to serve airside developments, parking lot expansions and projects related to enhancing the passenger experience. The third 
group of projects is related to the maintenance of existing airport facilities and infrastructure. Projects in this category include system 
lifecycle replacements, paving programs, fleet replacement and capital restoration.

b) At December 31, 2016, Edmonton Airports had outstanding capital commitments in the amount of $18,009 (2015 – $12,596).

c) Operating commitments
Edmonton Airports has operating contracts for the provision of parking and information technology management, building maintenance 
and security, air service, marketing and janitorial services. These contracts have annual commitments as follows:

$
2017 18,591
2018 17,556
2019 11,569
2020 1,688
2021 387

Certain operating contracts where the amounts cannot be reasonably estimated have been excluded from the above annual commitments.

The Amended Canada Lease is based upon a percentage of estimated gross revenues, including AIF revenues, at the Edmonton 
International Airport (see note 1). The future lease payments due to the Landlord are based upon projected Gross Revenue in each year and 
are estimated for the next five years as follows:

$
2017 17,749
2018 18,828
2019 19,920
2020 20,904
2021 21,878
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Edmonton Airports is incorporated without share capital under provisions of the Regional Airports Authority Act (Alberta) and, as such, all 
surpluses are retained and reinvested in airport operations and development. Edmonton Airports manages net assets as capital. Edmonton 
Airports’ objective when managing capital is to safeguard the entity’s ability to operate and manage its airports in a safe and secure 
fashion.

Edmonton Airports sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk and its ability to operate the airports in conjunction with its stated 
purpose. Edmonton Airports manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, Edmonton Airports may adjust rates and fees 
related to airport operations, AIF or by adjusting its capital project plans. As of December 31, 2016, Edmonton Airports had net assets of 
$47,889 (2015 – $58,876).

Edmonton Airports’ plan, which is unchanged from 2015, is to comply with the covenants for Debt Service Coverage Ratio, Gross Debt 
Service Coverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio (notes 6(a) and 6(c)). Edmonton Airports maintains its credit rating in order to secure 
access to financing at a reasonable cost. As at December 31, 2016, Edmonton Airports was in compliance with the restrictions imposed on 
capital.

The primary measure Edmonton Airports uses to monitor its profitability and financial leverage is EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortization). Edmonton Airports’ earnings are exempt from federal and provincial income tax. EBITDA is an additional 
GAAP measure as contemplated by IFRS and has been presented in the manner in which the chief operating decision maker assesses 
performance.

17 DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES
This information is provided pursuant to the Regulations of the Act.

a) Directors’ compensation

Annual retainer 
$

Chair 73
Vice-chair (does not collect director retainer) 4
Committee chairs (do not collect director retainer) 48
Directors 106

Meeting fees: Board and Board Committee meeting fees are $1,000 per meeting.

Total compensation paid and expenses reimbursed to each Director in 2016:

Compensation 
$

Expenses 
$

Total 
$

Naseem Bashir 22 – 22
Leonard Blumenthal 22 1 23
Maureen McCaw (Chair) 78 7 85
Gail Stepanik-Keber 22 – 22
Ralph Young 21 – 21
Anne McLellan (Previous Vice Chair)* 5 – 5
Dale Klein (Chair, Audit Committee) 25 – 25
Darrell Jones 24 – 24
Jay Ramotar 22 – 22
Joan Hertz 19 – 19
Robert Petryk (Chair, Governance & Human Resource Committee) 28 1 29
Mary Cameron (Chair, Real Estate Development Oversight Committee) 22 – 22
Murray Hales 22 – 22
Suromitra Sanatani 19 – 19
Tom Redl (Previous Chair)* 23 – 23

* Term was completed in December 2015. Remuneration paid in 2016 is for meetings attended in the last quarter of 2015. 

ii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises through excess obligations over available financial assets due at any point in time. Edmonton Airports’ objective in 
managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves to meet its liquidity requirements at any point in time. Edmonton 
Airports achieves this through funds generated by operations and externally through bank borrowings and bonds that provide flexibility 
in the timing and amounts of long-term financing. Edmonton Airports has a policy to invest its cash balances in short-term pooled money 
market funds whose underlying investment policy restricts these investments to federal and provincial government issues and in issues of 
large highly-rated Canadian financial institutions.

The following table sets out Edmonton Airports’ financial liabilities, including interest payments, where applicable:

Long-term 
debt 

$

Trade 
and other 
payables 

$
Total 

$
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 
Within 1 year 69,479 41,654 111,133
1 to 5 years 386,682 – 386,682
After 5 years 1,039,985 – 1,039,985

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
Within 1 year 67,621 31,938 99,559
1 to 5 years 372,717 - 372,717
After 5 years 1,094,047 - 1,094,047

Given the available credit facilities, the amounts of cash and cash equivalents, and the timing of liability payments, Edmonton Airports’ 
management assesses the liquidity risk as low.

iii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, will affect Edmonton 
Airports’ income or the value of the financial instruments held.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
Edmonton Airports’ functional currency is the Canadian dollar and major purchases are transacted in Canadian dollars. Management 
believes that the foreign exchange risk from currency conversions is negligible.

INTEREST RATE RISK
Interest rate risk arises because of the fluctuations in interest rates. Edmonton Airports is exposed to interest rate risk on its cash and cash 
equivalents, Note 16 restricted deposits, post-employment benefit liabilities and long-term debt. 

Edmonton Airports enters into fixed rate debentures under the Series C Bond and other debt securities with the intention of holding to 
maturity. Fluctuations in interest rates will have an impact on the fair value of the long-term debt. The fair value of the long-term debt 
would increase by $109,670 if interest rates decreased by 1 percent and decrease by $94,740 if interest rates increased by 1 percent.
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Total compensation for each key member of management in 2016 was as follows:

Base salary 
$

Other cash 
benefits(1) 

$

Other 
non-cash 

benefits(2) 
$

2016 
Total 

$

2015 
Total 

$
President and Chief Executive Officer* 390 327 35 752 715
Vice President Infrastructure 221 105 61 387 372
Vice President Operations 228 114 63 405 340
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President Strategy 
and Corporate Services* 283 133 36 452 424
Vice President Commercial Development 246 121 68 435 386
General Counsel and Corporate Secretary* 170 62 44 276 251
Vice President Passenger Market Development* 239 109 65 413 386

1,777 971 372 3,120 2,874

*Denotes officer of Edmonton Airports at December 31, 2016

(1)  Other cash benefits include incentive pay and management allowances.

(2)  Other non-cash benefits include Supplementary Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) (per note 7(b)) and Edmonton Airports’ share of all 
taxable employee benefits and contributions or payments made on behalf of employees including the DB Plan and DC Plan and group 
life insurance plan.

b) Total remuneration for Directors and Officers:
During the year ended December 31, 2016, Edmonton Airports provided its Directors and Officers remuneration (base salary, incentives, 
and allowances) and reimbursement of expenses in the following amounts:

2016
Remuneration 

$
Expenses 

$
To directors 374 9
To 4 officers who are not directors 1,892 139

2,266 148

2015
Remuneration 

$
Expenses 

$
To directors 408 4
To 4 officers who are not directors 1,776 156

2,184 160

18 COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
Comparative figures for certain property, plant and equipment’s major categories (buildings, roadway systems, parking facilities and lots, 
runway, taxiways and apron surfaces, land development, other machinery and equipment, computer hardware, computer software and 
intangible assets) have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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Representatives

City of Edmonton 
Don Iveson, Mayor
Linda Cochrane, City Manager

City of Leduc
Greg Krischke, Mayor
Paul Benedetto, City Manager

Leduc County
John Whaley, Mayor
Duane Coleman, County Manager

Parkland County
Rod Shaigec, Mayor
Mike	Heck,	Chief	Administrative	Officer

Strathcona County
Roxanne Carr, Mayor
Rob Coon, Chief Commissioner

Sturgeon County
Tom Flynn, Mayor
Peter Tarnawsky, Chief Administrative 
Officer

Transport Canada
Ross Ezzeddin, Director General, 
Air & Marine Programs
Jason Tom, Director, Authorities Stewardship, 
Air & Marine Programs

Executive 
Management Team

Tom Ruth
President & CEO

Traci Bednard
Vice President, Passenger 
Market Development

Kirstan Jewell
Vice President, Human Resources and 
Organizational Effectiveness

Myron Keehn
Vice President, Commercial 
Development

Rob Malli
Chief	Financial	Officer	
and Vice President, Strategy & 
Corporate Services

Steve Maybee
Vice President, Operations

Steve Rumley
Vice President, Infrastructure

Bill Wright
Vice President, Risk, General Counsel 
and	Governance	Officer

Karen Croll
Manager,	Executive	Office	
and Board Secretary
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